# CALIFORNIA INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING RESEARCH LABORATORY

# NONLINEAR SEISMIC ANALYSIS OF ARCH DAMS

By

Michael J. Dowling

Report No. EERL 87-03

A Report on Research Supported by Grants from from the National Science Foundation

Pasadena, California

### 1987

REPRODUCED BY U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE NATIONAL TECHNICAL INFORMATION SERVICE SPRINGFIELD, VA. 22161

This investigation was sponsored by Grant Nos. EAR-8317257 and CES-8619908 from the National Science Foundation under the supervision of J. F. Hall. Any opinions, findings, conclusions or recommendations expressed in this publication are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the National Science Foundation.

## NONLINEAR SEISMIC ANALYSIS OF ARCH DAMS

Thesis by

Michael J. Dowling

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of

**Doctor of Philosophy** 

California Institute of Technology

Pasadena, California

1988

(Submitted 17 September 1987)

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My thanks go primarily to my thesis advisor, John Hall, firstly because his enormous input to this thesis cannot be overstated, and secondly because his advice, help and friendship over the past four years are greatly appreciated. Thanks also to his wife, Nancy, for several excellent meals over the past four years.

My thanks also go to the inhabitants of Thomas Laboratory, most of whom, to one degree or another, have helped make my stay here enjoyable, rewarding and memorable. In particular, I wish to thank Zee Duron and his family for being good to me.

In the production of this thesis, my thanks go in particular to Cecelia Lin for producing many of the figures, and to Krista Potter for her help in preparing some of the text. My thanks also go to Garret Jeong for his patience and help with the Prime computer.

I would like to thank my parents for their unfailing and unconditional love and support, for guiding me in what to do when they knew best and, later, for encouraging me to do what I wanted to do when they felt (mistakenly or otherwise) that I knew best, and most of all for never suggesting that I get a real job. My gratitude also goes to the many other members of my immediate and not so immediate family who have always been supportive to me.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Title Page	(i)
	Acknowledgements	(ii)
	Table of Contents	(iii)
	Abstract	$(\mathbf{v})$
Chapter 1.	INTRODUCTION	
1.1.	General Introduction and Background	1
1.2.	Objectives and Scope	3
1.3.	Outline of Present Work	4
Chapter 2.	TWO-DIMENSIONAL JOINT ELEMENT	
2.1.	Joint Modeling, Analytical Considerations	6
2.2.	Joint Modeling, Numerical Treatment	9
2.3.	Solution Scheme	13
Chapter 3.	TWO DIMENSIONAL ANALYSIS RESULTS	
3.1.	Accuracy and Efficiency of Joint Element	30
3.2.	Nonlinear Analyses of Jointed Arch	33
Chapter 4.	ANALYSIS OF THREE-DIMENSIONAL ARCH DAMS	
4.1.	Body of the Dam	59
4.2.	Seismic Input	62
4.3.	Foundation of the Dam	63
4.4.	Water Domain	64
4.5.	Solution Scheme	66
4.6.	Static Solution	70

-iii-

## Chapter 5. THREE-DIMENSIONAL ANALYSIS OF PACOIMA DAM

5.1.	Description of Dam and Ground Motion	80
5.2.	Dam, Water and Foundation Discretizations	81
5.3.	Static Load Application	83
5.4.	Localization of Foundation and Fluid Stiffness Matrices	84
5.5.	Dynamic Analysis of Pacoima Dam under Severe Ground Motion;	
	Full and Partially Full Reservoir	85
5.6.	Dynamic Analysis with Lower Intensity Ground Motion	93
5.7.	Investigation of the No-slip Constraint in Joints	95
Chapter 6.	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	
6.1.	Summary	157
6.2.	Conclusions	157
	Peferences	161
	itereners	101

#### ABSTRACT

A nonlinear finite element procedure for arch dams is described in which the gradual opening and closing of vertical contraction joints and predetermined horizontal cracking planes are considered. A special joint element approximately represents the deformations due to plane sections not remaining plane at each open joint and allows a single shell element discretization in the thickness direction to be used for the dam. Compressive and sliding nonlinearities are not included. Finite element treatments are also used for the water, assumed incompressible, and for the foundation rock, assumed massless, with all degrees of freedom (dof) off the dam condensed out. For efficiency in the computations, the condensed water and foundation matrices are localized in a way which maintains good accuracy. The response of Pacoima Dam to the 1971 San Fernando ground motion recorded on a ridge over one abutment and scaled by two-thirds is computed first for water at the intermediate level that existed during the 1971 earthquake and then for full reservoir. In the first analysis, the dam exhibits pronounced opening and separation of the contraction joints, allowing violation of the no-slip assumption. The presence of a full reservoir greatly increases the dam response, enough to bring some of the assumptions of the analysis into question. Reducing the ground motion scale to 0.44 with full reservoir drops the response back to a reasonable level, but the contraction joint separations remain.

# CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

#### **1.1 General Introduction and Background**

Finite element methods for linear elastic analysis of the response of arch dams to earthquake motions are well established [1-5]. Analyses of a number of dams have been carried out, many in response to the state of California's ongoing program to ensure the safety of dams in the state. One common characteristic of these analyses is the computation of high tensile stresses which occur during the dynamic response. The tensile stresses are generally largest in the arch direction in the upper portions of a dam, and, depending on the dam geometry, can reach values of 6 MPa (1 MPa = 145 psi) under moderately strong ground shaking and higher under severe motions [6-12].

The large tensile stresses computed in linear finite element analyses are unrealistic as the tensile strength of concrete under static loads is typically about 3 MPa, with perhaps a 50% increase under dynamic loading due to strain rate effects [13]. In addition, arch dams are often built with vertical contraction joints spaced at regular intervals. The contraction joints may be grouted, in which case they might be able to carry some small tensile stress, or they may be ungrouted, in which case no tensile stress can be transmitted across the joints. Also, an arch dam is constructed in a series of lifts, each lift being several feet high. The bond between the concrete in successive lifts is imperfect, possibly giving rise to planes of weakness. Imperfect bond may also be present at the foundation interface. Thus, even the limited tensile strength of concrete may not be attained over the major portion of the dam.

The occurrence of computed tensile stresses in excess of those capable of being carried presents a dilemma for the analyst seeking to design a new dam or to determine the safety of an existing dam. In essence, the nonlinear response and stability of the dam must be predicted from linear elastic analysis. Typically, concern over large tensile stresses is alleviated using a load transfer argument [14]; for example, the load carried artificially by computed arch tensions is assigned to the cantilevers which are often more lightly stressed. Along this line, tensile arch stresses from a linear analysis have been converted to equivalent radial loads and then applied to the cantilevers in a subsequent static analysis [10,12]. In another case [11], the stiffness of the center portion of the upper arches was reduced in a subsequent dynamic analysis. However, such procedures cannot account for cantilever cracking [15,16] which has been shown to occur in model tests [17,18], estimate increased compressive stresses resulting from opening or impact at joints and cracks, and include the effects of sliding at joints or cracks which involve friction and the presence of shear keys; nor are they rigorous enough upon which to base important seismic safety decisions. Clearly, some analysis procedure for including nonlinear features of the seismic response of arch dams is needed.

A survey of the literature on finite element modeling of cracks and joints shows that two approaches are common: the smeared crack approach and the use of joint elements. In the smeared crack method [19–23], cracks and joints are modeled in an average or smeared sense by appropriately modifying the material properties at the integration points of regular finite elements. Smeared cracks are convenient when the crack orientations are not known beforehand because the formation of a crack involves no remeshing or new degrees of freedom (dof). Compressive and sliding nonlinearities have been included. However, smeared crack methods have only limited ability to model sharp discontinuities, and work best when the cracks to be modeled are themselves smeared out as in reinforced concrete applications.

Joint elements are more appropriate for modeling opening and closing of discrete cracks and joints. The simplest joint element is a nonlinear spring [24] which has infinite strength in compression, finite strength in tension, and spans the joint connecting the nodes of the finite elements on opposite sides. More sophisticated joint elements [25-28] have been borrowed from those used in rock mechanics [29,30] where the joints between rocks are of finite width and filled with a soft, no-tension material. A disadvantage of joint elements is the additional dof associated with the double-node arrangements. Joint elements can be constructed to include sliding [31], while nonlinear behavior in compression can be included in the adjacent finite elements. Of major concern is the mechanism of opening and closing of the joints and cracks which probably takes place continuously, i.e., gradual opening and closing without impact, although some localized impact may occur following joint separation. Representation of the gradual opening and closing with the use of joint springs requires a multiple finite element discretization in the thickness direction (assuming linearly interpolated elements are used) which, for an arch dam, typically modeled with a single shell element in the thickness direction, would be very expensive. The rock mechanics type joint element does exhibit gradual opening and closing of a sort, even with a single, linearly interpolated finite element in the thickness direction; however, the behavior differs from that at an interface joint or a crack which is characterized by plane sections not remaining plane during opening. Thus, this approach is thought not to be valid; in any case, its accuracy has never been established. A similar problem exists with the smeared crack approach.

A number of other joint treatments have been developed [32-34], but have drawbacks and have not been applied to three-dimensional arch dams. The interface smeared crack model [32,33] represents cracks discretely like joint elements but, like smeared crack elements, does not introduce additional dof. Its behavior is similar to that resulting from the use of joint springs and, thus, similarly requires extra through-thickness discretization to represent gradual opening and closing. In [34], the finite element interpolation functions were modified to account for a partially open joint at the element boundary. Although the bi-linear displacement interpolation in the thickness direction may be too restrictive, the technique does have potential. Apparently, the only previous attempt to account for joint opening in a dynamic analysis of a three-dimensional arch dam is [26].

#### 1.2 Objectives and Scope

The purpose of the research described in this dissertation is to examine the effect of the opening of vertical contraction joints and predetermined cracking planes

within the dam and along the dam-foundation interface on the earthquake response of arch dams. Both nonlinearities are modeled similarly with a special joint element designed to efficiently represent the gradual opening and closing of a joint and to be used in conjunction with a single shell element discretization in the thickness direction of the dam. A number of important nonlinear effects are excluded from the joint model. First, it is assumed that the stress-strain relationship for the concrete in compression remains linear throughout the analysis. Second, sliding along the joints and crack planes is assumed to be prevented by friction and/or built-in shear keys. This assumption is questionable under conditions of complete separation at a crack or joint. Third, when a joint located below the top surface of the water opens on the upstream face, water, to some degree, will enter the joint and exert a pressure which will tend to pry the joint open further. This effect is not modeled, though it is briefly addressed. Fourth, cavitation, which will occur in the water if the dynamic component of pressure reduces the absolute pressure to the vapor pressure, is also not included. In addition to the assumptions on nonlinear behavior, this study employs simplified treatments of foundation interaction, omits spatial variations in free-field ground motions, and neglects water compressibility.

#### **1.3 Outline of Present Work**

Chapter II describes the development of a special joint element which efficiently and accurately represents gradual opening and closing in two-dimensional slabs and arches using a single slab finite element discretization in the thickness (depth) direction. The joint element introduces two extra dof in addition to the three regular dof at each node of the structure. The manner in which the joint element is incorporated in a regular finite element mesh and the solution procedure for the nonlinear finite element equations are described.

In Chapter III, an analysis of a two-dimensional jointed arch (which is a representative horizontal cross-section of a concrete arch dam), in which the arch material is modeled by slab elements and the joints by the special joint elements, is compared to an analysis of the same arch in which the arch material is modeled by means of many plane strain elements and the joints are modeled by means of several notension springs rigid in compression. The comparison illustrates the accuracy and relative efficiency of the former method. In addition, the special joint element is used in a comprehensive earthquake response analysis of the arch. Responses of the arch with and without joints are compared to assess the effect of joint opening.

Chapter IV describes the generalization of the two-dimensional joint element in a simple, approximate way for use in analysis of three-dimensional arch dams. Finite element treatments for the water, assumed incompressible, and for the foundation region, assumed massless, are described. For efficiency in the computations, all the water and foundation dof off the dam are condensed out, and it is shown that the condensed water and foundation matrices can be localized in a way which maintains accuracy. A method is described by which the dead weight of the dam is applied in steps in order to approximately simulate a construction sequence.

Chapter V describes a full three-dimensional nonlinear analysis of Pacoima (arch) Dam subjected to the 1971 San Fernando earthquake ground motion recorded on a ridge over one abutment of the dam and scaled by two-thirds. The response of the dam is computed first for water at the intermediate level that existed during the 1971 earthquake and then for the full reservoir. A third response analysis is also described for the case of the dam with a full reservoir subjected to less intense ground shaking.

Chapter VI, the final chapter, summarizes the major findings of this study and presents conclusions regarding the range of applicability of the analytical technique described herein.

-5-

#### CHAPTER II

#### TWO-DIMENSIONAL JOINT ELEMENT [35]

This chapter outlines the development of the two-dimensional joint element, showing how the gradual opening and closing of joints in two-dimensional slabs and arches can be accurately and efficiently modeled by a two-dof nonlinear spring element. Some important features, as well as the limitations of the element, are described. The nonlinear equations of motion of a two-dimensional arch or slab are developed, and the solution scheme is presented.

### 2.1 Joint Modeling, Analytical Considerations

Idealized behavior of an interface joint in a simply supported slab of unit width (perpendicular to the plane of the page), depth h and length 2d is shown in Figure 2.1. Material properties of the slab are assumed to be homogeneous, isotropic and linearly elastic, and small displacement and strain conditions are assumed. The presence of friction and/or built-in shear keys is assumed sufficient to prevent sliding along the joint. The slab is subjected to an axial force P and a varying end moment M, both applied to the ends of the slab as shown. For stability, P must be compressive (negative). Initially, when M is zero or very small, the whole joint is in compression and remains closed. When M is increased to a value of -Ph/6, then from simple beam theory, the normal stress at the bottom of the joint becomes zero. As M is increased beyond this value, the joint opens gradually. The maximum value of M is -Ph/2, obtained when the joint opening reaches the top. Failure of the joint would actually precede M = -Ph/2 because of the large compressive stress across the joint when the contact area reduces to a small value.

Figure 2.2 shows the  $M - \theta_T$  and  $M - U_T$  relations where  $\theta_T$  and  $U_T$  are the total rotation and axial translation, respectively, at the support. For M < -Ph/6, the joint remains closed, and

 $\theta_T = \theta_E \approx 12Md(1-\nu^2)/Eh^3$  by beam theory neglecting shear deformations  $U_T = U_E = -Pd/Eh,$  (2.1)

where E = Young's modulus;  $\nu = \text{Poisson's ratio}$ ; and the subscript E denotes elastic behavior. For M > -Ph/6 the joint opens;  $\theta_T$  increases nonlinearly, as does  $U_T$  due to a prying action at the joint. The joint may be considered to cause an additional rotation and axial translation at the support; i.e., in addition to the elastic values  $\theta_E$  and  $U_E$  which would occur if the joint were absent. The displacements due to the joint are

$$\theta_J = \theta_T - \theta_E \tag{2.2}$$
$$U_J = U_T - U_E$$

and are also plotted in Figure 2.2.

If, instead of being subjected to a constant axial load P and moment M varying from 0 to -Ph/2, the joint were subjected to a constant end moment M and an axial load varying from some large compressive value (< -6M/h, M positive) up to a value of -2M/h, behavior similar to that described above and illustrated in Figures 2.1 and 2.2 would be observed. Initially, with a large negative axial load, the joint would remain closed, but as P decreases in magnitude, gradual opening of the joint would result until P reaches a value of -2M/h, at which point the opening would reach the top. For this case, two additional sets of curves, analogous to those shown in Figure 2.2 relating total and joint rotations and total and joint translations at the support to axial load P, would be obtained.

It will be convenient to view the joint as a structural element with its own tangent stiffness defined by

$$\begin{cases} dM \\ dP \end{cases} = \begin{bmatrix} K_J \end{bmatrix} \begin{cases} d\theta_J \\ dU_J \end{cases}, \qquad (2.3)$$

where

$$\begin{bmatrix} K_J \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} k_{\theta\theta} & k_{\theta U} \\ k_{U\theta} & k_{UU} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (2.4)$$

and M and P are the moment and axial force across the joint. The tangent stiffness matrix  $[K_J]$  is the inverse of the tangent flexibility matrix  $[F_J]$  where

$$\begin{cases} d\theta_J \\ dU_J \end{cases} = \begin{bmatrix} F_J \end{bmatrix} \begin{cases} dM \\ dP \end{cases}$$
 (2.5)

and

$$\begin{bmatrix} F_J \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} f_{\theta\theta} & f_{\theta U} \\ f_{U\theta} & f_{UU} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.6)

The terms  $f_{\theta\theta}$  and  $f_{U\theta}$  in  $[F_J]$  are the slopes  $d\theta_J/dM$  and  $dU_J/dM$  from the curves in Figure 2.2. The other terms  $f_{\theta U}$  and  $f_{UU}$  are  $d\theta_J/dP$  and  $dU_J/dP$  where  $d\theta_J$  and  $dU_J$  are caused by an increment in dP keeping M constant. The matrices  $[F_J]$  and  $[K_J]$  are symmetric, i.e.,  $f_{\theta U} = f_{U\theta}$  and  $k_{\theta U} = k_{U\theta}$ . The terms of  $[F_J]$  and  $[K_J]$  can be shown, by dimensional analysis, to depend only on the elastic modulus E, Poisson's ratio  $\nu$ , slab depth h, length d, and the dimensionless parameter -M/Ph. Independence of d results if d/h is sufficiently large (see next section). The functional dependence on -M/Ph is one-to-one except at M and P both equal to zero. Alternatively,  $[K_J]$  and  $[F_J]$  can be expressed as one-to-one functions of  $\theta_J h/U_J$  except when both  $U_J$  and  $\theta_J$  equal zero. Thus, the behavior of the joint is independent of loading and deformation history.

The structural element represented by  $[K_J]$  is equivalent to a three parameter spring system. The three parameters are a rotational spring of tangent stiffness  $k_{\theta}$ , a translational spring of tangent stiffness  $k_U$ , and the location  $\bar{h}$  of the translational spring (Figure 2.3). With a large d and a set value of Poisson's ratio, dimensional analysis leads to the following expressions for the spring parameters,

$$k_{U} = E \cdot f_{1}(-M/Ph \text{ or } \theta_{J}h/U_{J})$$

$$k_{\theta} = Eh^{2} \cdot f_{2}(-M/Ph \text{ or } \theta_{J}h/U_{J})$$

$$\bar{h} = h \cdot f_{3}(-M/Ph \text{ or } \theta_{J}h/U_{J}).$$
(2.7)

Relation to the components of  $[K_J]$  is given by

$$k_{\theta\theta} = k_{\theta} + \bar{h}^{2} k_{U}$$

$$k_{\theta U} = k_{U\theta} = -\bar{h} k_{U}$$

$$k_{UU} = k_{U}.$$
(2.8)

#### 2.2 Joint Modeling, Numerical Treatment

Computation of  $[K_J]$  or  $[F_J]$  is difficult analytically because of the mixed boundary condition at the joint, i.e., zero displacement along that part of the joint which is in contact, zero tractions along that part of the joint which is open. However, a nonlinear finite element solution of the problem illustrated in Figure 2.1 is possible. Only half the joint and slab (to one side of the plane of symmetry) need be considered. The finite element mesh of this system, shown in Figure 2.4, uses 8 elements through the depth of the slab and 20 elements along the length from the plane of symmetry to the end of the slab. The elements are four-node, linearly elastic, plane strain elements. Each node of the mesh has two dof, namely translations in the z and x directions. Nodes at the joint have their x dof free and their z dof connected by horizontal springs to the fixed plane of symmetry. These springs have zero stiffness within the open portion of the joint and have large stiffness ( $\approx \infty$ ) within the closed portion of the joint, i.e., they are rigid in compression and have zero stiffness and strength in tension.

The z translations of the 9 dof at the right end of the mesh in Figure 2.4 move nearly as a straight line, but not exactly; this makes the computation of  $\theta_T$  and  $U_T$  somewhat arbitrary. Therefore, these nine z dof were constrained to move as a straight line by transforming to the two dof  $\theta_T$  and  $U_T$  using a penalty method.

The nondimensionalized  $M - \theta_J$  and  $M - U_J$  curves obtained from the finite element system are shown in Figure 2.5. The elastic portions  $\theta_E$  and  $U_E$  of the support displacements (computed with the mesh of Figure 2.4 with all springs intact) have been subtracted out. Note that, in contrast to the smooth curves of Figure 2.2, those of Figure 2.5 are piecewise linear; slope changes occur every time a spring opens or closes. The joint condition is denoted by *i* where |i| is the number of open springs at the bottom (positive *i*) or top (negative *i*). Slopes of the linear segments give  $f_{\theta\theta}^{i}$  and  $f_{U\theta}^{i}$ ; the superscript denotes the joint condition. The curves in Figure 2.5 were obtained by applying a constant axial load and a varying moment to the right hand end of the slab. A second pair of curves (not shown) was obtained by applying a constant moment and a varying axial load to the end of the slab. Then solution for a load increment dP with a particular joint condition leads to  $f_{\theta U}^{i}$  and  $f_{UU}^{i}$ .

Inversion of  $[F_J]^i$  yields  $[K_J]^i$ , which is given in Table 2.1 in the form of the equivalent spring parameters  $k_{\theta}^i$ ,  $k_U^i$  and  $\bar{h^i}$ . These parameters are constant within ranges of -M/Ph or  $\theta_J h/U_J$  which correspond to particular joint conditions. Note that as the joint opens,  $\bar{h}$  increases and the springs soften. Under complete separation, stiffnesses of the equivalent springs are zero.

The behavior of the joint shown in Figure 2.4, modeled by 9 spring elements through the depth of the beam, is intended to approximate the continuous opening behavior shown in Figure 2.1. The error in the finite element model depends on the number of spring elements employed, and consequently on the number of plane elements. The results presented for the mesh with eight plane elements in the depth direction differed significantly from those obtained using a coarser mesh with four elements through the depth; however, they agreed well with results obtained with a finer mesh using 16 elements in the depth direction. Use of the latter results would require 35 possible conditions  $(0,\pm 1,...\pm 17)$  for each joint, as opposed to 19 possible conditions  $(0,\pm 1,...\pm 9)$  using the results obtained from the mesh with eight elements through the depth. This would require many more iterations and a significant increase in computation time for solution of an actual problem without giving any significant improvement in the accuracy of the analysis. Therefore, all the analyses described in this thesis were performed using the results presented in this chapter obtained from the mesh in Figure 2.4.

Numerical experience has shown that the joint spring parameters are independent of the distance d between joint and support if d exceeds 0.7h. Thus, for multiply jointed structures, some error will be present when the joint spacing is less than 0.7*h* due to interference between adjacent joints. However, this error is small for joints spaced as closely as 0.5*h*. At closer spacings, the error becomes significant. Chapter V presents results for Pacoima Dam, a typical arch dam. It will be seen in that chapter that the minimum spacing of the vertical contraction joints approaches 0.5*h* only in the lower part of the dam, where little or no joint opening occurs. Numerical experience has also shown only a weak dependence of the joint spring parameters on Poisson's ratio. All results presented in this thesis will be for  $\nu = 0.2$ , a value typical for concrete.

As pointed out in Chapter I, nonlinearities arising from large compressive stresses acting across the joint are not taken into account. These large stresses can occur at times of high axial compression when the bending moment is large enough to cause significant opening. Nonlinear behavior in compression is an important feature in the failure response of an arch dam [36], and thus the analysis methods described in this study may be unable to predict ultimate stability. Also, cracking within the finite elements and sliding along the joints is not permitted. In the experimental results of [36], no cracking occurred within the discrete blocks comprising the arch rib, and the pressure of friction was sufficient to prevent sliding between the blocks. Thus, based on these results, the last two assumptions may be reasonable except in the case of severe ground motion. The effect of complete joint separation on the no sliding assumption is discussed in Chapters IV and V.

A feature of a joint model which may be desirable is the ability to carry some tensile stress. Vertical contraction joints in an arch dam may be grouted, in which case they could have some tensile strength. This is accounted for in the following manner. If at a closed joint the moment is sufficient to cause tension on a face which has not opened previously, then that tensile stress is computed assuming a linear stress distribution through the depth of a joint and then compared to a specified limiting tensile stress. If the stress at the face does not exceed the limiting stress, the joint is held in the closed position. If the limiting tensile stress is exceeded, joint opening is allowed to take place from that face in the manner described previously. Further, once opening has taken place at a face, the limiting tensile stress for opening at that face is set to zero.

For output purposes, when a joint is completely closed, the values of M and Pat the joint are converted to normal stresses by assuming a linear stress distribution across the full depth of the joint. At a partially open joint, the normal stress at the closed face is computed using a triangular stress distribution with a notension zone (Figure 2.6). In both cases, M and P are sufficient to determine the stress distribution. However, as joint condition  $\pm 8$  (only end spring in contact) is approached, the depth of the triangular stress block goes to zero, and the peak compressive stress goes to infinity. Such behavior often occurs either as a joint completely separates or as it reestablishes contact after complete separation and is a result of using only a finite discretization in the thickness direction (Figure 2.4). Consequently, these high stresses are thought to be fictitious, or at worst, to lead to minor chipping of the concrete at the edge of the joint. As an arbitrary fix to this problem, the depth of the triangular stress block for joint conditions  $\pm 7$ and  $\pm 8$  was assumed to vary linearly from the depth computed from M and P at  $\theta_J h/U_J = \pm 3.1306$  (i.e., when the third spring from the face just breaks) to a zero depth at  $\theta_J h/U_J = \pm 2.0$ , with the peak stress adjusted to maintain the total force at P. However, peak stresses which were felt to be unrealistically high still resulted, so as an additional measure, a minimum stress block depth was established at 1/8of the joint depth.

In addition to the stresses at a joint, a second important computation for output purposes is that of the joint opening displacement at the upstream and downstream faces. If the material on either side of the open portion of the joint deforms as a straight line, then the opening at the face of the joint is simply the relative rotation of the joint,  $\theta_J$ , times the depth of the joint opening. Tests with the mesh shown in Figure 2.4 have shown that only if the contact depth is small can the joint opening be computed reliably in this manner. If a significant portion of the joint is closed, the joint opening at a face exceeds that predicted by the method described above. In this case, the joint opening displacement can be more accurately computed as the relative rotation,  $\theta_J$ , times a depth  $h^*$  which is greater than the depth of joint opening. Results from the mesh of Figure 2.4 for the actual value of  $h^*$  for each joint condition are given in nondimensionalized form in Table 2.1. For any value of -M/Ph other than those given in Table 2.1,  $h^*$  can be determined by linear interpolation.

#### 2.3 Solution Scheme

The finite element used is a two-dimensional slab element which includes shear deformations [37]. Figure 2.7 shows the element in its parent and mapped forms. The element has 2 nodes located at the mid-thickness, each of which has three dof associated with the local  $\hat{z}, \hat{x}$  axes. The  $\hat{z}$  axis is in the mapped  $\eta$  direction and lies along the nodal 'normal', and  $\hat{x}$  is perpendicular to  $\hat{z}$ . The three dof are  $\hat{z}$  and  $\hat{x}$  translations of the nodal normal and a counterclockwise rotation  $\hat{\theta}$  of the nodal normal. Linear shape functions are used for all dof. Two conditions imposed are zero normal strain perpendicular to the plane of the element, and zero in plane normal stress in a direction perpendicular to the mapped  $\xi$  direction. The  $6 \times 6$ linearly elastic element stiffness matrix is denoted by  $[K_e]$ .

Joint planes are located at element intersections and create a double-node condition, as shown in Figure 2.8. Five dof to define the positions of the nodal 'normals' a-b and A-B are associated with such an arrangement. The five dof are average translations  $\hat{W}_{av}$  and  $\hat{U}_{av}$  along  $\hat{z}$  and  $\hat{x}$ , the average rotation  $\hat{\theta}_{av}$ , the relative translation  $\hat{U}_{rel}$  along  $\hat{x}$  (opening positive), and the relative rotation  $\hat{\theta}_{rel}$ (positive for opening at the bottom, or negative  $\hat{z}$  edge of the joint). The relative displacement along  $\hat{z}$  is zero since sliding is not allowed. At the joint (Figure 2.8), the nodal dof (numbered 1 and 2) are related to the average and relative dof by

$$\hat{U}_{1} = \hat{U}_{av} - \hat{U}_{rel} \qquad \hat{U}_{2} = \hat{U}_{av} + \hat{U}_{rel} 
\hat{\theta}_{1} = \hat{\theta}_{av} + \hat{\theta}_{rel} \qquad \hat{\theta}_{2} = \hat{\theta}_{av} - \hat{\theta}_{rel}.$$
(2.9)

Stiffness terms associated with the average dof are the same ones which would be used if the joint plane were absent. Stiffness terms associated with the relative dof are provided by the 2×2 tangent stiffness matrix  $[K_J]^i$  of the joint element defined in the preceding section and by the adjacent finite elements. For an end joint at a plane of symmetry or at a support,  $[K_J]^i$  can be used directly; it must be multiplied by 2 at an interior joint. With the unmodified  $[K_J]^i$ , equation 2.3 (and also equation 2.21) apply only for an end joint; the resulting values of M and P or dM and dP must be divided by 2 at an interior joint. These considerations follow from the fact that the spring elements in the mesh in Figure 2.4 represent a joint at a plane of symmetry or fixed support and from the transformations defined by equation 2.9. Nonlinearities are associated only with the relative joint dof.

The time integration scheme for the nonlinear equations of motion employs Bossak's extension of the standard Newmark method. This extension [38,39] involves the introduction of a parameter,  $\alpha_B$ , to provide algorithmic damping in the high frequency range where spurious (numerical) oscillations can result from certain types of nonlinearities. The solution scheme employs Newton iterations within time steps to establish equilibrium. (In static problems, time steps are employed as a convenient way to increment the load.)

Development of the solution scheme proceeds from the time integration equations,

$$\left\{\dot{a}^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\right\} = \left\{\dot{a}(t)\right\} + \left\{(1-\gamma)\ddot{a}(t) + \gamma\ddot{a}^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\right\}\Delta t$$
(2.10)

and

$$\left\{ \ddot{a}^{l+1}(t+\Delta t) \right\} = \frac{1}{\beta \Delta t^2} \left\{ a^l(t+\Delta t) + \Delta a^l - a(t) \right\} - \frac{1}{\beta \Delta t} \dot{a}(t)$$
$$- \left( \frac{1}{2\beta} - 1 \right) \left\{ \ddot{a}(t) \right\},$$
(2.11)

and the general equation of motion which expresses equilibrium attained after the lth iteration in time stepping from t to  $t + \Delta t$ , altered from standard form, i.e.,

$$\left\{p^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\right\} + \left[C\right]\left\{\dot{a}^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\right\} + \left[M\right]\left\{\ddot{a}^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\right\} \approx \left\{f(t+\Delta t)\right\}, (2.12)$$

to Bossak's form,

$$\{p^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\} + [C] \{\dot{a}^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\} + \alpha_B [M] \{\ddot{a}(t)\} + (1-\alpha_B) [M] \{\ddot{a}^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\} \approx \{f(t+\Delta t)\},$$
 (2.13)

where  $\{a(t)\}$ ,  $\{\dot{a}(t)\}$  and  $\{\ddot{a}(t)\}$  are vectors of nodal displacements, velocities and accelerations at time t relative to any earthquake motions, and  $\{a(t)\}$  includes static displacements; notations  ${}^{l}(t + \Delta t)$  and  ${}^{l+1}(t + \Delta t)$  signify the approximations to the state at time  $t + \Delta t$  after (l-1) and l iterations, respectively, with  ${}^{1}(t + \Delta t) = (t)$ ;  $\gamma$  and  $\beta$  are integration parameters where, for unconditional stability (guaranteed only for the linear solution),  $\gamma \geq \frac{1}{2}$  and  $\beta \geq \frac{1}{4}(\frac{1}{2} + \gamma)^{2}$ ;  $\Delta$  denotes incremental quantity;  $\{p^{l+1}(t + \Delta t)\}$  = vector of stiffness forces which corresponds to the state  $\{a^{l+1}(t + \Delta t)\}$ ;  $\{f(t + \Delta t)\}$  = vector of applied nodal forces on the dam at time  $(t + \Delta t)$ ; and [C] and [M] are the damping and mass matrices of the structure. Substitution of equations (2.10) and (2.11) into the linearized form of equation (2.13) leads to the following algorithm for the *l*th iteration step in the computation of the state at time  $t + \Delta t$ , with the state at time t known.

1. Compute the incremental displacement  $\{\Delta a^l\}$  from

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{(1-\alpha_B)}{\beta\Delta t^2}M + \frac{\gamma}{\beta\Delta t}C + K \end{bmatrix} \{\Delta a^l\} = \{f(t+\Delta t)\} - \{p^l(t+\Delta t)\}$$
$$-\begin{bmatrix} \frac{(1-\alpha_B)}{\beta\Delta t^2}M + \frac{\gamma}{\beta\Delta t}C \end{bmatrix} \{a^l(t+\Delta t)\} + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{(1-\alpha_B)}{\beta\Delta t^2}M + \frac{\gamma}{\beta\Delta t}C \end{bmatrix} \{a(t)\}$$
$$+ \begin{bmatrix} \frac{(1-\alpha_B)}{\beta\Delta t}M + (\frac{\gamma}{\beta}-1)C \end{bmatrix} \{\dot{a}(t)\}$$
$$+ \begin{bmatrix} ((\frac{1-\alpha_B}{\beta\Delta t}M + (\frac{\gamma}{\beta}-1)C)] \{\dot{a}(t)\}$$
$$+ \begin{bmatrix} ((\frac{1-\alpha_B}{\beta\Delta t}M + (\frac{\gamma}{\beta}-1)C)] \{\dot{a}(t)\}$$

where

$$\{ p^{l}(t + \Delta t) \} = \{ p(\{a^{l}(t + \Delta t)\}) \}$$

$$\{ a^{1}(t + \Delta t) \} = \{ a(t) \}$$

$$\{ p^{1}(t + \Delta t) \} = \{ p(\{a(t)\}) \}$$

$$(2.15a)$$

and where  $\{p^{l+1}(t + \Delta t)\}$  has been linearized by

$$\{p^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\} = \{p^{l}(t+\Delta t)\} + [K]\{\Delta a^{l}\}.$$
 (2.15b)

2. Compute the new approximation to  $\{a(t + \Delta t)\}$  from

$$\{a^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\} = \{a^{l}(t+\Delta t)\} + \{\Delta a^{l}\}.$$
 (2.16)

Compute  $\{p^{l+1}(t + \Delta t)\}$  from  $\{p^{l}(t + \Delta t)\}$  and  $\{\Delta a^{l}\}$ . After convergence, compute

$$\{\dot{a}(t+\Delta t)\} = \{\dot{a}(t)\} + \{(1-\gamma)\ddot{a}(t) + \gamma\ddot{a}(t+\Delta t)\}\Delta t \{\ddot{a}(t+\Delta t)\} = \frac{1}{\beta\Delta t^2} \{a(t+\Delta t) - a(t)\} - \frac{1}{\beta\Delta t}\dot{a}(t) - (\frac{1}{2\beta} - 1)\{\ddot{a}(t)\}$$
(2.17)

and proceed to the next time step.

In the above,

[M] = the mass matrix of the stucture. Mass terms are associated with both the average and relative dof at a joint. The mass terms associated with the average dof are the same ones associated with a single node which would be used if the joint plane were absent. The mass terms associated with the relative dof come from the adjacent finite elements through the transformations defined by equation 2.9. No mass is associated with the joint elements. To account for interaction effects with an incompressible water domain, [M] can be augmented by an added mass matrix  $[M_a]$  in equations 2.13 and 2.14 above and equations 2.18 and 2.19 below.

[C] = the damping matrix of the structure. Rayleigh damping [40] is assumed; i.e., [C] is constructed as a linear combination of the mass matrix [M] and the linearly elastic stiffness matrix [K'] as

$$[C] = \alpha_0 [M] + \alpha_1 [K'], \qquad (2.18)$$

where  $\lfloor K' \rfloor$  is the stiffness matrix of the structure excluding all joint element stiffness terms. Thus, no structural damping is associated with the joint elements.

[K] = the tangent stiffness matrix of the structure. [K] is assembled from the linearly elastic matrices  $[K_e]$  of the finite elements and the current tangent matrices  $[K_J]^i$  of the joint elements. Due to large changes in the terms of  $[K_J]^i$ for different values of *i* (as the joints open and close), the current matrix [K] is always used in each iteration. The modified Newton method, which uses a tangent matrix from a previous configuration that is updated from time to time, results in fewer matrix factorizations but requires an excessive number of iterations. This difficulty is common in analysis of contact problems.

 $\{f(t + \Delta t)\}$  = specified nodal load vector at time  $t + \Delta t$ . For static plus earthquake loading [40],

$$\left\{f(t+\Delta t)\right\} = \left\{f_{\mathrm{st}}\right\} - \left[M \ M_{\mathrm{g}}\right]\left\{r\right\}\ddot{a}_{\mathrm{g}}(t+\Delta t),$$
 (2.19)

where  $\{f_{st}\}$  = static load due to, say, water pressure;  $[M_g]$  is the portion of the mass matrix which couples support dof (i.e., dof which are fixed) and non-support (free) dof;  $\{r\}$  is an influence vector which depends on the direction of earthquake motion; and  $\ddot{a}_g(t + \Delta t)$  is the ground acceleration at time  $t + \Delta t$  in the given direction.

 $\{p^l(t + \Delta t)\}$  = nodal load vector which is in equilibrium with the stresses that correspond to the strains in the configuration  $\{a^l(t + \Delta t)\}$ .  $\{p^l(t + \Delta t)\}$  is assembled from vectors  $\{p^l_e(t + \Delta t)\}$  of the finite elements and vectors  $\{p^l_J(t + \Delta t)\}$ of the joint elements. For the finite elements

$$\left\{p_{\mathbf{e}}^{l}(t+\Delta t)\right\} = \left[K_{\mathbf{e}}\right]\left\{a_{\mathbf{e}}^{l}(t+\Delta t)\right\},\tag{2.20}$$

where  $\{a_e^l(t + \Delta t)\}$  is the element displacement vector. The joint load vector  $\{p_J^l(t + \Delta t)\}$  contains the two terms  $M^l(t + \Delta t)$  and  $P^l(t + \Delta t)$  computed from

$$\begin{cases} M^{l}(t + \Delta t) \\ P^{l}(t + \Delta t) \end{cases} = \begin{bmatrix} K_{J} \end{bmatrix}^{i} \begin{cases} \theta^{l}_{rel}(t + \Delta t) \\ \hat{U}^{l}_{rel}(t + \Delta t) \end{cases}$$
 (2.21)

where the joint condition *i* is determined from the value of the parameter  $\hat{\theta}_{rel}^{l}(t + \Delta t) \cdot h/\hat{U}_{rel}^{l}(t + \Delta t)$ . Note that no integration is required to compute  $M^{l}(t + \Delta t)$  and  $P^{l}(t + \Delta t)$  as is implied by equation 2.3. The reason is the independence of the stress state from the deformation history; i.e., the same  $M^{l}(t + \Delta t)$  and  $P^{l}(t + \Delta t)$  would result from any deformation path including the one in which  $\hat{U}_{rel}^{l}(t + \Delta t)$  and  $\hat{\theta}_{rel}^{l}(t + \Delta t)$  increase from zero to their final values maintaining the same ratio throughout, which takes place entirely under joint condition *i*.

Additional features of the solution algorithm are the following:

1. The choice

$$\gamma = \frac{1}{2} - \alpha_B$$
  
$$\beta = \frac{1}{4} (1 - \alpha_B)^2$$
 (2.22)

is convenient because it produces no algorithmic damping at  $\alpha_B = 0$  (constant average acceleration method) and results in minimal damping at low frequencies for nonzero  $\alpha_B$ . The variation of damping with frequency for nonzero (negative) values of  $\alpha_B$  is shown in Figure 2.9.

2. The Rayleigh damping matrix [C], expressed by equation 2.18, gives any mode with natural frequency  $\omega$  (radians/sec) a damping ratio given by

$$\xi = \frac{\alpha_0 \omega}{2} + \frac{\alpha_1}{2\omega}.$$
 (2.23)

Specifying  $\xi$  at two frequencies  $\omega$  is sufficient to determine  $\alpha_0$  and  $\alpha_1$ . As  $\xi$  from equation 2.23 can often be made to vary slowly over the frequency range of interest, the modal frequencies do not have to be found precisely.

- 3. The solution at time  $t + \Delta t$  is obtained following an iteration in which no joint condition changes occur.
- 4. Use of the current tangent matrix [K] is expensive because it must be reformed and recomputed in each iteration of each time step. This would be

-18-

particularly true for three-dimensional problems, and Chapter IV describes methods to ensure maximum computational efficiency in that case.

- 5. For linear matrix equations, the Bossak-Newmark time integration scheme with the Bossak parameter  $\alpha_B \leq 0$  is unconditionally stable. In the application here to a nonlinear matrix equation, no instabilities were encountered which allowed the choice of  $\Delta t$  to be based solely on accuracy criteria.
- 6. The algorithm described above is for a nonlinear analysis. A linear analysis may be performed simply by specifying the condition of each joint to be 0 at all times.
- 7. Removal of the dynamic terms (mass, damping, velocity and acceleration) from the algorithm described above gives the static solution scheme.
- 8. A basic requirement of any proposed algorithm is that the computed values of M and P at the joints under linear analysis (no opening) be accurate. In the present algorithm, M and P are computed directly from the displacements of the joint springs. Comparison to analytical solutions of linear slabs and arches under static loading has shown M and P to be very accurate. Results presented in Chapter III will reinforce this.

		Table 2.1	Parameters of t	he Joint Eleme	ut	
Јонт						
CONDITION	RANGE OF -M/Ph	k <sup>i</sup> <sub>0</sub> /Eh <sup>2</sup>	k"/E	<u>н</u> , н	Range of $h \theta_j / U_j$	Range of $h^*/h$
<sup>0</sup> 946						
0	0 to ±0.181515	0.686400E5	0.80000E6	0	. 0 to ∓2.115581	1.000 to 2.905
<b>1</b>	±0.181515 to ±0.208654	0.149009E1	0.578035E6	±0.181511	∓2.115581 to ∓∞ or ±∞ to ±5.512184	2.905 to 1.370
<b>±2</b>	±0.208654 to ±0.245145	0.324072E0	0.257321E4	±0.202751	±5.512184 to ±5.005502	1.370 to 1.040
<b>±3</b>	±0.245145 to ±0.287020	0.125015E0	0.263496E3	±0.228791	±5.005502 to ±4.532209	1.040 to 0.910
<u>+</u> 4	±0.287020 to ±0.332713	0.572333E-1	0.540538E2	±0.260362	±4.532209 to ±4.069550	0.910 to 0.870
±5	±0.332713 to ±0.381015	0.266024E-1	0.148260E2	±0.299084	±4.069550 to ±3.607720	0.870 to 0.880
<del>1</del> 6	±0.381015 to ±0.431850	0.109213E-1	0.462551E1	±0.347379	±3.607720 to ±3.130602	0.880 to 0.920
±7	±0.431850 to ±0.500000	0.286902E-2	0.143287E1	±0.409660	±3.130602 to ±2.580636	0.920 to 1.000
<b>+8</b>	±0.500000	0	0.282278E0	±0.500000	±2.580636 to ±2.000000	1.0
<del>1</del> 0	•	0	0	3	1	1.0

-20-











Figure 2.3 Equivalent joint element.





-24-



Figure 2.5 Moment versus support displacements due to joint action under constant axial force. Results are from the finite element model.



Figure 2.6 Determination of the compressive stresses at a partially open joint using a triangular stress block with a no-tension zone.











Two-node slab element.

Figure 2.7





-28-


Figure 2.9 Algorithmic damping ratio,  $\xi$ , as a fraction of critical, plotted against  $\omega \Delta t/2\pi$  for  $\alpha_B = -0.05, -0.1, -0.3$  for a single degree of freedom oscillator, natural frequency  $\omega$  radians/sec (source, [39]).

# CHAPTER III

## TWO-DIMENSIONAL ANALYSIS RESULTS

This chapter compares some results of static and dynamic analyses of a twodimensional jointed arch, for the purpose of demonstrating the accuracy and usefulness of the equivalent joint element developed in Chapter II. In one case the arch is modeled with slab finite elements connected by these joint elements, and in the other case, a fine discretization through the depth of plane finite elements and joint springs is employed.

Thereafter, a more extensive analysis of the arch structure, using the slab elements, is performed in which the arch is subjected to a series of successively stronger ground motions in order to observe the increasing amount of joint opening which occurs and its effect on the dynamic response of the arch, and also to compare the linear and nonlinear behavior of the structure.

## **3.1 Accuracy and Efficiency of Joint Element**

Chapter II outlined the development of the equivalent two-dimensional joint element designed to model the gradual opening and closing mechanism of an interface joint in a slab using a single slab element discretization through the depth. This technique produces a much more efficient solution than that obtained by the type of mesh shown in Figure 2.4, which uses nine spring elements and eight plane elements through the depth. Regarding accuracy, both techniques should be comparable for a simple slab such as shown in Figure 2.1 because this was the calibration problem for the equivalent joint element. Of interest, however, is the performance of the joint element in a more complex arch structure containing several joints and subjected to a dynamic load, such as an earthquake excitation.

The jointed circular arch pictured in Figure 3.1a will be used as a test problem and is intended to represent a horizontal cross-section of an arch dam. It has a unit height of 1 meter and a uniform depth of 5.5 meters. The radius to the mid-depth of the arch is 45 meters. Material properties of the concrete are Young's modulus E of 27,500 MPa, Poissons's ratio of  $\nu$  0.2, and mass density of 2500 kg/m<sup>3</sup>. Due to symmetry, only half the arch is modeled, subtending an angle of 60°. The five blocks are separated by contraction joints which, along with the abutment joint, have no assigned tensile strength.

The arch is located at a depth of 45 meters below the water surface and is precompressed by a static pressure of 0.44 MPa. Using this value of water pressure in a design of the arch by circular ring theory (uniform axial force, zero bending moments) where the circumferential compressive stress is given by

$$\sigma = pr/h \tag{3.1}$$

(p = water pressure, r = radius, h = depth), then the arch depth of 5.5 meters corresponds to an allowable compressive stress of 3.6 MPa.

Two finite element models are employed in analysis of the arch: one of slab finite elements and equivalent joint elements (Figure 3.1a) and one of plane finite elements and joint springs (Figure 3.1b). The latter model contains nine spring and eight plane elements through the depth, a discretization similar to that in Figure 2.4. Translational dof of the plane element nodes are transformed to radial and tangential components. Joints are numbered 1 (abutment) through 6 (center), and no joint sliding is permitted. To enforce this constraint in the mesh of Figure 3.1b, the two opposing center nodes at each joint are connected by a rigid radial spring (not shown in the figure).

The structure is first subjected to the forces due to the static pressure of the water as shown in Figure 3.1a. In the slab element mesh, the forces are applied in the radial direction at each of the six nodes. In the plane element mesh, the static pressure is distributed along all the nodes on the upstream face of the mesh. Figure 3.2 shows that the resulting circumferential stress distributions at the joints in the slab element mesh (a) and the plane element mesh (b) are very similar. Departures from the uniform stress distribution due to the presence of bending moments are well approximated. No joint opening occurs.

With the static loads still acting, the arch is subjected to earthquake ground motions applied in the x (stream) direction. The ground motion applied is the 1940 El Centro record shown in Figure 3.3 which has a peak acceleration of about 0.34g. Only the first four seconds of the record are employed but contain the maximum accelerations. The time step  $\Delta t$  equals 0.02 seconds. Interaction with the water is approximately accounted for by added masses which, in the case of the shell element mesh, are attached to the radial dof at each of the six nodes, and, in the case of the plane element mesh, are attached to and uniformly distributed among the radial dof on the upstream face of the arch. The values of added mass shown in Figure 3.1a are reasonable for water at a depth of 45 meters. Values of the Rayleigh damping coefficients  $\alpha_0$  and  $\alpha_1$  in equation 2.18 are chosen to give damping ratios of 5% at frequencies of 4Hz and 20Hz, giving a minimum damping ratio of 3.7% at about 9 Hz. The Bossak high frequency dissipation parameter  $\alpha_B$  described in Chapter II is chosen as -0.2. This value of  $\alpha_B$  gives algorithmic damping ratios increasing from 0.3% at 4 Hz to  $2\frac{1}{2}$ % at 10 Hz to 6% at 20 Hz. At high frequencies both the Rayleigh and algorithmic damping increase rapidly. Incidentally, the first six eigenvalues of the linear structure (including added mass) range from about 3.5 Hz to 24 Hz.

Linear dynamic analyses of the structure are performed by not allowing any joint to open. Figures 3.4 a to i present the results; slab element mesh results are shown solid and the plane element mesh results are shown dashed. Included are time histories at joints 1 and 6 of radial displacement (joint 6 only), axial force, moment, and circumferential stress at the upstream and downstream faces. The two sets of curves in Figure 3.4 agree well. Some differences do exist and are attributed to the different discretizations; i.e., slab elements vs. the refined plane element mesh.

Figures 3.5 a to n present results for the nonlinear dynamic analyses of the arch using the slab and plane element discretizations. The time history responses plotted include those of Figure 3.4 as well as the amount of opening at the upstream face of joint 1 and at the upstream and downstream faces of joint 6 and the position of the contact point at each joint, i.e., "crack tip" location. In Figures 3.5 b and i, the upper and lower traces represent opening from the upstream and downstream faces, respectively, of the joint. Agreement between the two sets of curves, while not quite of the quality obtained with the linear responses, is still reasonable. Indications are that accuracy of the equivalent joint element improves for more severe openings (Figures d and j).

In conclusion, taking into account the different finite element discretizations, it may be said that the equivalent joint element developed in Chapter II represents the opening behavior of an interface joint reasonably well including opening width and joint axial force, moment and stress. The effect of the joint on the overall response of the structure is well captured. Needless to say, use of the mesh shown in Figure 3.1a is computationally much more efficient than use of the mesh shown in Figure 3.1b. The nonlinear analysis of the arch using the plane element mesh required about 50,000 seconds of CPU time on a PRIME 500 computer. The corresponding analysis using the slab element mesh took less than 700 seconds of CPU time. In addition, since much of the 700 seconds was set-up time, which remains constant regardless of the earthquake duration, a longer duration would show an even more dramatic difference in computation time.

### 3.2 Nonlinear Analyses of Jointed Arch

With the ability of the equivalent joint element to adequately model the opening and closing mechanism of an interface joint in a structure as well as its effect on the overall behavior of the structure confirmed, a more comprehensive study of the same arch structure described previously using the slab element discretization is performed here. The effect of nonlinearities on the arch response is revealed by examining the response to the El Centro ground motion (Figure 3.3) with acceleration scaled by f = 0.50, f = 0.75, f = 1.00 and f = 1.25. Again, the first four seconds are applied in the x direction. All parameters of the previous solution including geometry, static loads, added masses and damping are kept the same except that a 2 MPa tensile strength is assigned to the abutment (joint number 1).

Results from the nonlinear analyses are shown in Figures 3.6 a to f and include time histories of radial displacement (joint number 6), upstream opening (joint number 1), axial force, -M/P, position of joint contact and maximum compressive stress (the latter quantities at both joints). The quantity -M/P represents the position of the axial force P (measured from the mid-depth line), and varies between +2.75 meters (upstream face) and -2.75 meters (downstream face). In plotting the maximum compressive stress at a joint, no distinction is made between whether the stress occurs at the upstream face or downstream face. This information can be determined from the sign of -M/P. As described in Chapter II and illustrated by Figure 2.6, the location of the joint contact point and the value of the maximum compressive stress across a joint are computed from M and P using a linear compressive stress distribution with a no-tension zone.

Each part of Figures 3.6 a to f contains the responses to all four earthquake ground motions. All curves are solid lines. In each part, the curve for f = 1.25exhibits the greatest response; the curves for f = 1.00, 0.75 and 0.50 show progressively less response. The radial displacement curves in Figure 3.6a indicate that the displacement response of the dam increases approximately linearly with the level of excitation even though significant joint opening occurs (see discussion of Figure 3.6e below). The amplitudes of the displacement curves closely correspond to those obtained from linear analysis using the same excitation levels (not shown). Evident in Figure 3.6a, as well as the other figures, is a slight period elongation in the response which becomes more pronounced as the excitation level increases. This period elongation is due to a reduction in stiffness caused by joint opening. Where the response and joint opening are smaller near the ends of the time histories, the period elongation is less.

The axial force response in Figure 3.6c is similar at joints 1 and 6, and, in fact, at all joints. This feature is also true under static loading. In one cycle, at time t = 2.3 seconds, P is reduced to about 12% of its static value for the case where the ground acceleration is scaled by a factor of 1.25. Therefore, a somewhat more

intense excitation would cause a complete separation and a possible violation of the no-slip assumption.

Examination of Figures 3.6d and e reveals the joint opening behavior. At f = 0.50, joint opening is essentially confined to joint 1 where the penetration depth is about 2.5 meters (less than one-half of the joint depth). At f = 1.25, joints 1 and 6 open severely to depths of about 4 meters (about three-quarters of the joint depth). Figure 3.6f shows that the maximum compressive stress reaches about 20 MPa at both joints. These stress levels are probably permissible for many concrete dams for an unusual loading condition. Additionally, if the ultimate concrete strength exceeds about 30 MPa (a reasonable value if E = 27,500 MPa) then the assumption of a linear stress-strain relation is not too bad. To put the joint opening in perspective, Figure 3.6b shows the time history of the opening at the upstream face of joint number 1. At f = 1.25, the maximum opening is about 0.2 cm with a duration of 0.18 seconds. This time history may prove useful in a future analysis to determine the extent of water entering an open joint, an effect not considered here.



b. Plane element mesh with joint springs. Joint widths are exaggerated.

Figure 3.1 Fixed ended arch used to verify the equivalent joint element.



a. Slab element mesh with equivalent joint elements.



b. Plane element mesh with joint springs.

Figure 3.2 Compressive stresses (in MPa) due to hydrostatic pressure. Deformed shape shown dotted.







Figure 3.4

a to i (next 5 pages). Comparison of the dynamic linear responses computed from the slab-equivalent joint element mesh and the plane element-joint spring mesh.



a. Radial displacement at joint 6 versus time.



b. Axial force at joint 6 versus time.



c. Moment at joint 6 versus time.

-41-



e. Circumferential stress at downstream face at joint 6 versus time.



g. Moment at joint 1 versus time.

-43-



h. Circumferential stress at upstream face at joint 1 versus time.



i. Circumferential stress at downstream face at joint 1 versus time.

Figure 3.5

a to n (next 7 pages). Comparison of the dynamic nonlinear responses computed from the slab-equivalent joint element mesh and the plane element-joint spring mesh.



b. Position of joint contact at joint 6 versus time.

(U = upstream face. D = downstream face. C = center plane).

-46-



c. Opening of joint 6 at upstream face versus time.



d. Opening of joint 6 at downstream face versus time.

-47-



e. Axial force at joint 6 versus time.



f. Moment at joint 6 versus time.



g. Circumferential stress at upstream face at joint 6 versus time.



h. Circumferential stress at downstream face at joint 6 versus time.



. Opening of joint 1 at appream face versus time.







m. Circumferential stress on upstream face at joint 1 versus time.



n. Circumferential stress at downstream face at joint 1 versus time.

Figure 3.6

a to f (next 5 pages). Dynamic nonlinear responses of the arch with the slab-equivalent joint spring mesh for various intensities of ground motion as specified by the scale factor f.



b. Opening of joint 1 at upstream face versus time.



c. Axial force versus time at joints 1 and 6.

-55-







e. Position of joint contact versus time at joints 1 and 6. (U = upstream face. D = downstream face. C = center plane).

-57-



f. Maximum compressive stress versus time at joints 1 and 6.

## CHAPTER IV

### ANALYSIS OF THREE-DIMENSIONAL ARCH DAMS [41]

This chapter describes how the two-dimensional joint element whose development and use was outlined in Chapters II and III can be generalized in a simple but approximate way for use in analysis of a three-dimensional arch dam (Figure 4.1). It describes how the effects of both foundation-structure interaction and fluidstructure interaction can be accounted for with only a minimal increase in storage requirements and with little loss of computational efficiency. The solution algorithm presented in Chapter II is generalized for the three-dimensional problem. Lastly, a method is described whereby the dead weight of the structure can be applied in a manner which simulates the actual construction sequence for a typical arch dam.

#### 4.1 Body of the Dam

Chapter II outlined the development of a special element to model gradual opening and closing of interface joints in a two-dimensional arch or slab. The results of Chapter III showed the element to be both accurate and efficient for this purpose. However, for realistic analysis of arch dams, generalization needs to be made to the three-dimensional situation. This can be done in a simple but approximate way.

The dam is divided horizontally and vertically into blocks, each of which is represented by a single shell element. The vertical joint planes are the actual contraction joints in the dam. Typically, these might be spaced at intervals of about 15 meters, with perhaps ten or twelve such planes across the crest of the dam. Consequently, all of the contraction joints can be modeled without undue computational effort. The horizontal joints represent predetermined planes where cantilever cracking is constrained to occur. Horizontal crack orientations are suggested by the vertical orientation of the contraction joints [15] and by the possible horizontal planes of weakness in the lift joints, and are supported by shaking table studies [17,18] on small scale models built with contraction joints (but probably with keys omitted). As typical lift heights are small, the spacing of horizontal joints in the finite element model is governed by computational limitations. As described in Chapter II, cracking at the face of a joint occurs when the tensile stress there exceeds an assigned tensile strength. Approximations regarding cracking, i.e., the predetermined locations and an absence of fracture mechanics criteria, are noted.

As in the two-dimensional treatment, no joint sliding is permitted. At a horizontal joint, the validity of this constraint requires that contact be maintained with sufficient friction. In the contraction joints, however, slip would be constrained even under a condition of complete separation if right angled keys were present. Typically, though, keys have beveled geometries which permit an amount of free slip during joint separation dependent on the bevel angle (Figure 4.2). Although omitted here, joint slip is certainly a desirable feature to include in a nonlinear analysis of an arch dam. Inclusion of joint slip would entail a considerable increase in complexity of formulation and in computational effort and is not included for these reasons.

Discretization of the dam employs linearly interpolated shell elements which include shear deformations (the type with independent interpolations for translation and rotation [37]). A single element discretization through the thickness of the dam is utilized. The element may be three-noded (for use in the vicinity of the damfoundation interface) or four-noded. Figure 4.3 shows the four-noded element in its parent and mapped forms. The element uses mid-thickness nodes, each node having five dof associated with the local  $\hat{x}, \hat{y}$  and  $\hat{z}$  axes. The  $\hat{z}$  is in the mapped  $\eta$  direction and lies along the nodal 'normal', or through-thickness direction;  $\hat{x}$  is perpendicular to  $\hat{z}$  and lies in the horizontal x - z plane;  $\hat{y}$  is perpendicular to both  $\hat{z}$  and  $\hat{x}$  and oriented so that  $\hat{x}, \hat{y}$  and  $\hat{z}$  form a right-handed system. The five dof needed to describe the position of the nodal 'normal' are translations  $\hat{U}, \hat{V}$  and  $\hat{W}$ in the  $\hat{x}, \hat{y}$  and  $\hat{z}$  directions, respectively, and rotations  $\hat{\theta}$  and  $\hat{\alpha}$  about  $\hat{y}$  and  $\hat{x}$ , respectively.

The joint planes are located at element boundaries and can produce four types of nodal arrangements. At a node where no joint planes intersect, the standard five dof are used. In Figure 4.4a, where a vertical joint plane is present, seven dof are used for the double node arrangement involved; five average translations and rotations  $(\hat{U}_{av}, \hat{V}_{av}, \hat{W}_{av}, \hat{\theta}_{av}$  and  $\hat{\alpha}_{av})$  of the nodal normals a-b and A-B, plus the relative translation  $\hat{U}_{rel}$  (opening positive) and relative rotation  $\hat{\theta}_{rel}$  (opening on downstream face positive). The joint plane in Figure 4.4b is horizontal. Again, seven dof are used to define the position of the nodal normals c-d and C-D; the same five average translations and rotations  $(\hat{U}_{av} \dots \hat{\alpha}_{av})$  as for the vertical joint, plus the relative translation  $\hat{V}_{rel}$  (opening positive) and rotation  $\hat{\alpha}_{rel}$  (opening on downstream face positive). Lastly, the intersection of a vertical and horizontal joint plane provides the fourth nodal arrangement. Nine dof are required here;  $\hat{U}_{av}, \hat{V}_{av}, \hat{\theta}_{av}, \hat{\alpha}_{av}, \hat{U}_{rel}, \hat{\theta}_{rel}, \hat{V}_{rel}$  and  $\hat{\alpha}_{rel}$ . A single joint suffices along the damfoundation interface and represents the interface itself. In this case, the local  $\hat{y}$  axis is rotated to make  $\hat{x}$  perpendicular to the interface, and the joint is treated as vertical.

The shell elements contribute stiffness to both the average and relative dof at a node as determined by transformations which, where both horizontal and vertical joints are present, are given by

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{U}_{1} &= \hat{U}_{av} + \hat{U}_{rel} & \hat{U}_{2} = \hat{U}_{av} + \hat{U}_{rel} & \hat{U}_{3} = \hat{U}_{av} - \hat{U}_{rel} & \hat{U}_{4} = \hat{U}_{av} - \hat{U}_{rel} \\ \hat{V}_{1} &= \hat{V}_{av} - \hat{V}_{rel} & \hat{V}_{2} = \hat{V}_{av} + \hat{V}_{rel} & \hat{V}_{3} = \hat{V}_{av} + \hat{V}_{rel} & \hat{V}_{4} = \hat{V}_{av} - \hat{V}_{rel} \\ \hat{\theta}_{1} &= \hat{\theta}_{av} - \hat{\theta}_{rel} & \hat{\theta}_{2} = \hat{\theta}_{av} - \hat{\theta}_{rel} & \hat{\theta}_{3} = \hat{\theta}_{av} + \hat{\theta}_{rel} & \hat{\theta}_{4} = \hat{\theta}_{av} + \hat{\theta}_{rel} \\ \hat{\alpha}_{1} &= \hat{\alpha}_{av} - \hat{\alpha}_{rel} & \hat{\alpha}_{2} = \hat{\alpha}_{av} + \hat{\alpha}_{rel} & \hat{\alpha}_{3} = \hat{\alpha}_{av} + \hat{\alpha}_{rel} & \hat{\alpha}_{4} = \hat{\alpha}_{av} - \hat{\alpha}_{rel}, \end{aligned}$$

where the nodal numbering refers to that of the unassembled elements appearing in Figure 4.5. The resulting stiffness terms associated with the average dof are the same ones associated with the single node which would be used if the joint planes were absent. The  $2 \times 2$  joint stiffness matrices  $[K_J]^i$  assemble into the  $\hat{U}_{rel}$  and  $\hat{\theta}_{rel}$ dof at each node containing a vertical joint and into the  $\hat{V}_{rel}$  and  $\hat{\alpha}_{rel}$  dof at each node containing a horizontal joint.

Table 2.1 presents sets of values of the elements of  $\left[K_J\right]^i$  together with

the ranges of -M/Ph and  $\theta_J h/U_J$  for which each  $[K_J]^i$  holds, all in nondimensionalized form. To determine the 2×2 joint stiffness matrix at a particular node, the values shown in Table 2.1 must be scaled:

- (a) by the elastic modulus at the node. Since a node may be associated with several elements, the elastic modulus would normally be taken as the average of the elastic moduli of the adjacent finite elements.
- (b) by the effective height V (in the case of a vertical joint, Figure 4.4a), width
   H (horizontal joint, Figure 4.4b), or length (dam-foundation interface joint, not shown) at the node.
- (c) by the depth of the joint, computed by an averaging procedure using linear weighting functions varying from one at the node to zero at the adjacent nodes. This procedure actually results in little difference except at the vertical joints at the nodes on the crest where the averaging picks up only the increased dam thickness below the crest.

Then for a joint at a particular node, the translational and rotational stiffnesses and location of the translational spring are given by

$$k_{\theta}^{i} = \left(\frac{k_{\theta}^{i}}{Eh^{2}}\right) \cdot E_{av} \cdot h_{av}^{2} \cdot b_{eff}$$

$$k_{U}^{i} = \left(\frac{k_{U}^{i}}{E}\right) \cdot E_{av} \cdot b_{eff}$$

$$\bar{h}^{i} = \left(\frac{\bar{h}^{i}}{h}\right) \cdot h_{av},$$
(4.2)

where  $k_{\theta}^{i}/Eh^{2}$ ,  $k_{U}^{i}/E$  and  $\bar{h}^{i}/h$  are the nondimensionalized values from Table 2.1;  $E_{\rm av}$  is the average elastic modulus at the node,  $h_{\rm av}$  is the average depth of the joint; and  $b_{\rm eff}$  is the effective height, width or length of the joint. Then the terms of the  $2\times 2$  stiffness matrix for the joint are given by equation 2.8.

#### 4.2 Seismic Input

The earthquake excitation can be defined by three components of free-field ground acceleration, one horizontal in the upstream-downstream direction, one horizontal in the cross-stream direction, and one vertical. In reality, considerable variation in the amplitude and phase around the canyon occurs. While nonuniform boundary excitations can be included in finite element analysis of structures [40], no accepted procedure for defining realistic free-field motions for a canyon geometry exists. Therefore, only uniform free-field motions are employed in this thesis as excitation to both dam and water.

#### 4.3 Foundation of the Dam

Only a finite portion of the foundation rock, fixed at its far end, is included. To avoid system resonances with artificially low frequencies, foundation mass is omitted. This technique has not prevented reasonable correlations from being obtained to forced vibration field test results [42,43]. An extent of massless foundation region (measured radially away from the dam) of about the dam height is required for a converged eigensolution of the dam-foundation system [44]. Radiation damping is represented indirectly by including the foundation stiffness matrix in the Rayleigh damping matrix and choosing the Rayleigh damping coefficients appropriately. The mathematical formulation of the damping appears in Section 4.5.

The foundation is meshed using standard 8 to 20 node rectangular prism and 6 to 15 node triangular prism elements. Figure 4.6 shows the 20 node element in its parent form. Three dof are associated with each node, namely translations in the global x, y and z directions. The stiffness matrix of the foundation is formed element by element and assembled in the standard way. Since only the response of the dam is of interest, to avoid carrying all the foundation dof (which would necessitate much extra storage and computation time), the foundation dof off the interface are condensed out prior to assembly (condensation is possible because the foundation is massless). The disadvantage of this procedure is that the resulting condensed foundation stiffness matrix is full (i.e., no bandedness), and, on assembly into the global stiffness matrix, couples together dof st all nodes on the dam-foundation interface, thus destroying the bandwidth of the dam stiffness matrix. This results

in an unacceptably large problem in a computational sense which is avoided by localizing the condensed foundation stiffness matrix.

Figure 4.7 shows a diagram of a dam mesh with its associated foundation mesh. A consequence of the condensation process is that the dof at, for example, node number 3 are coupled to all the dof at nodes 1,3,6,...58 along the interface. To avoid this coupling, in a row of the stiffness matrix corresponding to a particular dof at node number 3, only the diagonal stiffness term and the coupling terms between that dof and the other dof at node number 3 and the neighbouring nodes 1 and 6 are retained. All other stiffness terms are set to zero. This procedure is repeated for all the dof along the dam-foundation interface and results in an approximate foundation stiffness matrix which assembles only into nonzero terms of the dam stiffness matrix and, thus, produces no nodal coupling not already present. This procedure enables foundation-structure interaction to be modeled with no penalty other than the addition of some extra dof along the dam-foundation interface which, in the rigid foundation case, would be fixed. Results presented in Chapter V will show that the errors incurred by the localization process described above are very small and well within acceptable limits.

# 4.4 Water Domain

While water compressibility can be important in the earthquake response of arch dams [44,45], its inclusion requires a considerable computational effort. Many pressure dof must be carried, especially since the frequency domain transmitting boundary employed for the water domain in [44,45] has no exact counterpart in the time domain. Since the focus of this study is on the effect of joint opening, water compressibility is omitted in order to keep the computational effort to a reasonable level. A finite element model is employed rather than the more conventional lumped added mass approach which has been shown to be a poor representation of an incompressible water domain [46].

Incompressible water is governed by the three-dimensional Laplace equation,
$$\frac{\partial^2 P}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2 P}{\partial y^2} + \frac{\partial^2 P}{\partial z^2} = 0, \quad P = \text{dynamic pressure (compression positive)} \quad (4.3a)$$

subject to the boundary conditions

$$\frac{\partial P}{\partial n} + \rho_{w}A_{n} = 0 \text{ along accelerating boundaries}$$

$$P = 0 \text{ at the free surface,}$$

$$(4.3b)$$

where  $A_n$  is the boundary acceleration in the direction of the inward normal n, and  $\rho_w$  is the water density. The reservoir floor and sides are assumed to accelerate rigidly at the specified earthquake motions; i.e., no water-foundation interaction is included.

The water domain is meshed by means of linearly interpolated, 6 or 8 node, three-dimensional finite elements. Figure 4.8 shows the 8-node element in its parent form. One dof, namely dynamic water pressure, is associated with each node. The nodes of the water mesh at the upstream face of the dam should lie along the nodal 'normals' of the shell element mesh. The water mesh is extended upstream for a sufficient distance (about twice the dam height) to approximate an infinite reservoir. The omission of water compressibility allows the condensing out of any dof which does not need to be carried; this set includes all dof off the upstream face of the dam.

The finite element formulation for the water is

$$[K_{\rm pp}]\{a_{\rm p}\} = \{f_{\rm p}\} - [M_{\rm p}]\{\ddot{a}\}, \qquad (4.4)$$

where  $[K_{pp}]$  is the "stiffness" matrix of the water domain [47] condensed to those dof on the dam-water interface (symmetric matrix, but full);  $\{a_p\}$  is the vector of dynamic water pressures at the interface;  $\{f_p\}$  is the vector of nodal acceleration quantities which arise from rigid accelerations of the dam face and the reservoir floor and side walls at the uniform earthquake motions [48];  $[M_p]$  is a matrix which transforms nodal accelerations of the dam to nodal acceleration quantities of the water [47]; and  $\{\ddot{a}\}\$  is the dam nodal acceleration vector. The last term in equation 4.4 is the water domain load arising from the accelerations of the dam relative to the uniform free-field motions. Because of the proximity of the nodal 'normal' to the true normal at the upstream face of the dam, the contribution to this load term is included only for the average translational dof of the dam.

## 4.5 Solution Scheme

The equation of motion for the dam-foundation system which expresses equilibrium attained after the *l*th iteration in time stepping from t to  $t + \Delta t$  is

$$\{p^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\} + [\bar{K}]\{a^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\} + [C]\{\dot{a}^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\} + [M]\{\ddot{a}^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\}$$
$$= \{f(t+\Delta t)\} - [K_{\rm p}]\{a_{\rm p}^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\},$$
(4.5)

where  $\{p^{l+1}(t + \Delta t)\} =$  vector of nodal stiffness forces of the dam which corresponds to the state  $\{a^{l+1}(t + \Delta t)\}$ ;  $\{a\}$ ,  $\{\dot{a}\}$  and  $\{\ddot{a}\}$  are vectors of nodal displacements, velocities and accelerations relative to the earthquake motions, and  $\{a\}$  includes static displacements; the notation  $l^{l+1}(t + \Delta t)$  signifies the approximation to the state at time  $t + \Delta t$  after l iterations, with  $1(t + \Delta t) = (t)$ ; and

 $[\bar{K}]$  = the condensed and localized foundation matrix whose translational dof have been transformed into shell compatible dof and assembled into the average translational and rotational dof at the interface.

[M] = the mass matrix of the dam. Mass terms come from the shell elements and are associated with both the average and relative dof at a joint as determined by the transformations of equation 4.1.

 $\begin{bmatrix} C \end{bmatrix}$  is the Rayleigh damping matrix,

$$[C] = \alpha_0 [M] + \alpha_1 [K' + \overline{K}], \qquad (4.6)$$

where [K'] is the linear stiffness matrix of the shell elements only (all joint stiffness terms excluded). Thus no structural damping from the joint elements is present.

 $\left\{f(t+\Delta t)
ight\}$  = specified nodal load vector at time  $t+\Delta t$  given by

$$\left\{f(t+\Delta t)\right\} = \left\{f_{\rm st}\right\} - \left[M\right]\left[r\right]\left\{\ddot{a}_g(t+\Delta t)\right\},\tag{4.7}$$

where  $\{f_{st}\}$  contains the dead loads of the dam concrete and the static water forces;  $[r] = \text{matrix of influence vectors, one for each component of ground motion; and <math>\{\ddot{a}_g(t + \Delta t)\}$  contains the x, y and z components of the free-field ground acceleration at time  $t + \Delta t$ .

 $[K_p]$  = a matrix which transforms dynamic water pressures at nodes on the upstream dam face to nodal forces on the average translational dof on the dam [47], and

$$\left[K_{\rm p}\right] = -\frac{1}{\rho_{\rm w}} \left[M_{\rm p}\right]^T,\tag{4.8}$$

where  $[M_p]$  is defined for equation 4.4.

Equations 4.4 and 4.5 are coupled, and they may be combined into a single partitioned matrix equation as

$$\begin{cases} p^{l+1}(t+\Delta t) \\ 0 \end{cases} + \begin{bmatrix} \bar{K} & K_{\rm p} \\ 0 & K_{\rm pp} \end{bmatrix} \begin{cases} a^{l+1}(t+\Delta t) \\ a^{l+1}_{\rm p}(t+\Delta t) \end{cases} + \begin{bmatrix} C & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{cases} \dot{a}^{l+1}(t+\Delta t) \\ 0 \end{cases} + \begin{bmatrix} M & 0 \\ M_{\rm p} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{cases} \ddot{a}^{l+1}(t+\Delta t) \\ 0 \end{cases} = \begin{cases} f(t+\Delta t) \\ f_{\rm p}(t+\Delta t) \end{cases}.$$

$$(4.9)$$

This global partitioning between the dam and the water dof is for notational convenience only. In practice, each pressure dof is assembled immediately following those dof of the adjacent dam node.

One method of solving this set of equations is to solve the lower part (i.e., equation 4.4) for  $\{a_p^{l+1}(t + \Delta t)\}$  as

$$\left\{a_{\rm p}^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\right\} = \left[K_{\rm pp}\right]^{-1} \left\{-\left[M_{\rm p}\right]\left\{\ddot{a}^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\right\} + \left\{f_{\rm p}(t+\Delta t)\right\}\right\}$$
(4.10)

and substitute into the upper part to get

$$\{p^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\} + [\bar{K}]\{a^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\} + [C]\{\dot{a}^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\} + [M+M_{a}]\{\ddot{a}^{l+1}(t+\Delta t)\} = \{f(t+\Delta t)\} + \{f_{a}(t+\Delta t)\},$$
(4.11)

where

$$[M_{\rm a}] = -[K_{\rm p}][K_{\rm pp}]^{-1}[M_{\rm p}]$$
(4.12a)

and

$$\{f_{a}(t + \Delta t)\} = -[K_{p}][K_{pp}]^{-1}\{f_{p}(t + \Delta t)\}.$$
 (4.12b)

The physical interpretation of  $[M_a]$  is an added mass matrix; the term in row *i*, column *j* of  $[M_a]$  is the force from the water on dam dof *i* resulting from a unit acceleration of dam dof *j*.  $\{f_a\}$  contains the dam loads due to the water pressures resulting from the rigid accelerations of the dam face and the reservoir floor and side walls at the uniform earthquake motions.

The difficulty with the method of solution outlined above is that  $[M_a]$  is a full matrix and couples together average translational dof of the dam at all nodes associated with the dam-water interface. Consequently, the bandedness of the global mass matrix is lost and solution of equation 4.11 becomes computationally prohibitive. A possible remedy for the loss of bandedness is to localize  $[M_a]$  in the same manner as was previously described for the condensed foundation stiffness matrix. However, unlike the foundation stiffness matrix, where such a localization process resulted in minimal errors, localization of  $[M_a]$  led to unacceptably large errors.

To see the reason why localization of  $[M_a]$  fails, consider the membrane analogy to the two-dimensional form of equations 4.3a and b, where P represents the outof-plane displacement and  $A_n$  the out-of-plane boundary traction. In this analogy,  $[K_{pp}]$  in the finite element formulation, equation 4.4, is a stiffness matrix. Thus, from equation 4.12a,  $[M_a]$  must have the characteristics of a flexibility matrix. The intrinsic nature of a flexibility matrix makes it unamenable to localization. The stiffness characteristics of  $[K_{pp}]$ , which is also full due to the condensation procedure, suggest that the preferable solution scheme is to solve equation 4.9 with a localized  $[K_{pp}]$ . The penalty in dealing with equation 4.9 is an extra dof at each dam node due to the adjacent pressure unknown which is carried. Compared to solving equation 4.11, the penalty (assuming each dam node has 9 dof; i.e., both horizontal and vertical joints are present) is approximately  $\frac{10^2}{9^2} - 1 = 23\%$  on storage and  $\frac{10^3}{9^3} - 1 = 37\%$  on computation time, which are acceptable if the localization is accurate. For the example of Chapter V, this is the case.

Rewriting equation 4.9 in the Bossak form followed by linearization of  $\{p^{l+1}(t + \Delta t)\}$  (equation 2.15b) and substitution of equations 2.10 and 2.11 leads to the finite element solution scheme,

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{(1-\alpha_B)}{\beta\Delta t^2}M + \frac{\gamma}{\beta\Delta t}C + K + \bar{K} & K_{\rm p} \\ \frac{(1-\alpha_B)}{\beta\Delta t^2}M_{\rm p} & K_{\rm pp} \end{bmatrix} \begin{cases} \Delta a^l \\ \Delta a_{\rm p}^{-l} \end{cases} = \begin{cases} f(t+\Delta t) \\ f_{\rm p}(t+\Delta t) \\ 0 \end{cases} - \begin{bmatrix} \frac{(1-\alpha_B)}{\beta\Delta t^2}M + \frac{\gamma}{\beta\Delta t}C + \bar{K} & K_{\rm p} \\ \frac{(1-\alpha_B)}{\beta\Delta t^2}M_{\rm p} & K_{\rm pp} \end{bmatrix} \begin{cases} a^l(t+\Delta t) \\ a_{\rm p}^l(t+\Delta t) \end{cases} + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{(1-\alpha_B)}{\beta\Delta t^2}M + \frac{\gamma}{\beta\Delta t}C \\ \frac{(1-\alpha_B)}{\beta\Delta t^2}M_{\rm p} & K_{\rm pp} \end{bmatrix} \begin{cases} a^l(t+\Delta t) \\ a_{\rm p}^l(t+\Delta t) \end{cases} + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{(1-\alpha_B)}{\beta\Delta t^2}M + \frac{\gamma}{\beta\Delta t}C \\ \frac{(1-\alpha_B)}{\beta\Delta t^2}M_{\rm p} & K_{\rm pp} \end{bmatrix} \{a(t)\} + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{(1-\alpha_B)}{\beta\Delta t}M + \left(\frac{\gamma}{\beta} - 1\right)C \\ \frac{(1-\alpha_B)}{\beta\Delta t}M_{\rm p} & K_{\rm pp} \end{bmatrix} \{\dot{a}(t)\} + \begin{bmatrix} \left((\frac{1-\alpha_B}{\beta\Delta t}M + \left(\frac{\gamma}{\beta} - 1\right)C \\ \frac{(1-\alpha_B)}{\beta\Delta t}M_{\rm p} & K_{\rm pp} \end{bmatrix} \{\dot{a}(t)\} + \begin{bmatrix} \left((\frac{1-\alpha_B}{\beta\Delta t}M + \left(\frac{\gamma}{\beta} - 1\right)C \\ \frac{(1-\alpha_B)}{\beta\Delta t}M_{\rm p} & K_{\rm pp} \end{bmatrix} \{\dot{a}(t)\} + \begin{cases} (1-\alpha_B) - \alpha_B M + \left(\frac{\gamma}{2\beta} - 1\right)\Delta tC \\ (\frac{1}{2\beta} - 1)(1-\alpha_B) - \alpha_B M_{\rm p} & K_{\rm pp} \end{bmatrix} \{\ddot{a}(t)\}, \end{cases}$$
(4.13)

where  $[K] = \text{tangent stiffness matrix of the dam (linear shell elements and tangent joint elements), and <math>\{p^l(t + \Delta t)\} = \text{vector of nodal stiffness forces of the dam corresponding to the state <math>\{a^l(t + \Delta t)\}$ . Construction of [K] and  $\{p^l(t + \Delta t)\}$  in each iteration proceeds as is described in Chapter II. Multiplication of the lower partitioned equation by  $\frac{-\beta \Delta t^2}{(1-\alpha_B)\rho_w}$  together with the identity defined by equation 4.8 results in a symmetric left hand side matrix.

This equation corresponds to equation 2.14 of the two-dimensional treatment, and the solution procedure outlined in Chapter II carries over to the present case. As emphasis has been on obtaining the dynamic part of the solution, the next section presents a few details on the static part.

#### 4.6 Static Solution

Three different techniques of computing static stresses in an arch dam due to the dead weight of the concrete are in use.

- (a) The dead weight acts instantly on the continuous and completely finished structure.
- (b) The dead weight is taken by independently acting cantilevers [3,10,49].
- (c) A staged construction sequence is simulated. In each stage, the dam is raised by independent extension of the cantilevers, and the contraction joints are grouted up to the level attained in a previous stage [3,50].

The first method, the simplest and most often used, is to be avoided since the stresses in the upper portion of the dam are largely due to it being pulled down by the portion of the dam below. The last method is the most realistic, and a version which corresponds to continuous grouting of the cantilevers as they are raised is employed here. The description will make use of the mesh in Figure 4.7.

The condensed, localized foundation stiffness matrix is first assembled into the global stiffness matrix followed by the  $2\times 2$  joint element stiffness matrices for each joint in the mesh, which are held in the closed position during the application of the dam self-weight. The shell element stiffness matrices  $[K_e]$  and self-weight vectors  $\{f_e\}$  for the bottom row of elements (numbers 21,27,33 and 39) are assembled into the global stiffness matrix and force vector, respectively, and the resulting system of equations is solved for the incremental displacements. These displacements are nonzero only for the dof on the dam-foundation interface and dof associated with the bottom row of elements. The shell element stiffness matrices and self-weight vectors for the second row of elements (numbers 15,20,...44) are then assembled, and the resulting incremental displacements are computed. Nonzero increments result only for the dof associated with the dam-foundation interface and the bottom

two rows of elements. This process is continued until the total stiffness matrix is assembled and the total self-weight vector is applied. The consequence of applying the self-weight via this construction sequence method is that the stresses in any row of elements result only from the weight of that row of elements and the elements above, as opposed, for example, to the method whereby the dead load is applied instantaneously to the completely finished structure where stresses, say in the top row of elements, result in part from the weight of the bottom row of elements, an unrealistic situation. Results presented in Chapter V will show that the stress distribution resulting from the construction sequence method of application differs significantly from that resulting from the instantaneous application method. The assumption that no joint opening occurs during application of the dead load is not violated.

Following application of the concrete dead load, the static water pressure is applied. This is performed in a single "time step" with iterations to allow for joint opening. The equation solved is a specialized version of equation 4.5 with dynamic terms omitted and  $\{a_p^{l+1}(t + \Delta t)\}$  replaced by the vector of static water pressures. The static solution for the concrete dead load and the static water pressure, thus computed, is used as the initial condition for the dynamic computation.







PLAN VIEW OF CONTRACTION JOINT

Figure 4.2 Typical detail of a contraction joint in an arch dam showing beveled keys.



MAPPED ELEMENT

Figure 4.3

.

Four-node shell element.

-74-





Figure 4.4



Figure 4.5 Node at Intersection of Horizontal and Vertical Joint.







-78-



Figure 4.8 8-node element used to discretize the water domain.

#### CHAPTER V

# THREE-DIMENSIONAL ANALYSIS OF PACOIMA DAM

This chapter describes the studies carried out on Pacoima Dam which investigate techniques for application of dead load, effects of the localization of the foundation and water domain discretizations, earthquake responses under full and partially full reservoir conditions using different ground motion intensities, and the effect of the no-slip constraint in the joints as pertains to possible collapse of the dam. Of the three earthquake analyses presented, one attempts to simulate the 1971 earthquake experience when the reservoir was only partially full, another repeats this analysis with full reservoir, and the third employs a full reservoir with a more typical, less severe ground motion.

## 5.1 Description of dam and ground motion

Pacoima Dam is a 111 meter high constant angle arch dam. It has a crest length of 180 meters and contains about 170,000 cubic meters of concrete. The thickness of the dam's center cantilever varies from about 3.2 meters at the crest to 30 meters at the base. The dam, which was constructed between 1925 and 1929, is located approximately 7 kilometers northeast of Central San Fernando, California.

The February 9, 1971, San Fernando earthquake had a Richter magnitude of 6.6 and caused moderately strong (15-25%g) to very strong  $(\geq 25\%g)$  shaking over a wide area. The earthquake was generated by slip on a fault making an angle of approximately  $45^{\circ}$  with the horizontal. While the surface expression of the fault was located several miles from Pacoima Dam, the epicenter was almost directly beneath the dam [51]. The earthquake caused permanent differential movement of the sides of Pacoima Canyon, opened the previously grouted contraction joint on the thrust block at the left abutment to nearly a centimeter, and caused a small crack near the base of the thrust block. (During construction, a volume of insecure rock from the left abutment had been removed and replaced by the concrete thrust

block.) In addition, the earthquake cracked the gunite cover on both abutments, caused slumping of an  $8,000 \text{ m}^2$  area on the left abutment, cracked the lining of the spillway outlet tunnel, and started a number of rock slides from the canyon walls in the vicinity of the dam [6]. The ground motions recorded by a strong motion accelerograph located on a ridge about 15 meters above the left abutment of the dam were the highest earthquake accelerations ever recorded (Figure 5.1). Peaks in excess of 1 g occurred in both horizontal components, and a maximum peak of about 0.7 g occurred in the vertical component. The strong motion had a duration of approximately 7.5 seconds. Thus, despite the severe shaking, the body of the dam suffered only slight damage. However, at the time of the earthquake, the water level stood 45 meters below the crest.

## 5.2 Dam, water and foundation discretizations

Finite element meshes of the dam, foundation region and water are shown in Figures 5.2, 5.4 and 5.5, respectively.

The dam mesh consists of 60 mid-thickness nodes and 51 three- and four- node linearly interpolated shell elements. Note that the dam is not perfectly symmetric because of the thrust block at the left abutment where the dam terminates in an approximately vertical plane. The thrust block is modeled as part of the foundation. Reduced, one-point integration to prevent shear locking is used for the dam stiffness. Both vertical and horizontal joints are present at each node of the dam, except along the crest where vertical joints only are present and along the foundation interface where a single joint suffices. The vertical joints coincide with the vertical contraction joints, spaced at intervals of approximately 15 meters in the actual dam. The topmost horizontal joint is approximately 11 meters below the crest. The other horizontal joints are spaced at intervals of about 20 meters. Material properties of concrete used in the finite element calculations are as follows:

tensile strength = 2.1 MPa in the vertical joints

= 3.1 MPa in the horizontal joints

= 2.1 MPa in the foundation interface joints

Young's modulus = 20,700 MPa

Poisson's ratio = 0.2

Specific gravity = 2.4.

The tensile strength of the horizontal joints is set equal to  $0.5\sqrt{f'_c}$  plus a 15% increase to allow for strain rate effects, where  $f'_c$  is the compressive strength of the concrete determined from cylinder tests to be about 29 MPa [6]. The strength of the grouting in the vertical joints and that of the bond between the dam and the foundation is unknown, so the lower value of 2.1 MPa is arbitrarily assigned to both. The value of Young's modulus is based on seismic surveys [52], and it and the values for Poisson's ratio and specific gravity were used in previous analyses [6]. Figure 5.3 shows the developed downstream profile of the dam. The nodes are numbered 1 to 60; the arches are labelled A0 to A6 and the cantilevers C-7 to C5. This figure will serve as a reference drawing for later discussions.

The foundation mesh shown in Figure 5.4 employs 296 nodes and 158 eight-node linearly interpolated brick elements. Reduced integration is used for the foundation stiffness. The foundation mesh extends outward from it's interface with the dam a distance of about 70 meters. The material properties of the foundation used in the analysis are as follows:

Young's modulus = 13,800 MPa

Poisson's ratio = 0.25.

The foundation modulus is an average value based on seismic surveys [52], but does not account for possibly softer material on the left abutment.

Figure 5.5 shows the finite element mesh of the water in the full reservoir condition. It consists of 420 nodes and 306 six- and eight-node fluid elements. The mesh extends radially outward from the dam for a short distance and then extends in the upstream direction for 180 meters. Note that since water-foundation interaction is not modeled, the boundaries of the water and foundation meshes need not coincide. The finite element mesh for the water used in the simulation of the 1971 earthquake had its free surface 45 meters below the dam crest and is not shown.

## 5.3 Static load application

Chapter IV describes various methods whereby the dead weight of the dam can be applied. Two will be considered here. In the first, which will be referred to as the instantaneous application method, the dead load is applied instantaneously to the continuous and completely finished structure. In the second, referred to as the construction sequence method, the dead weight is applied in a manner which attempts to simulate a construction operation using continuous grouting of the contraction joints. Figures 5.6 a and b compare the results of analyses of Pacoima Dam obtained using these two methods to apply the dead weight; also included are results for combined dead weight and hydrostatic load (for the full reservoir case). Both figures show the normal stresses in the joints at the crest of the dam (arch A0, see Figure 5.3 for arch and cantilever numbers) and the normal stresses on the horizontal cracking planes at the crown cantilever (cantilever C0). The deformed shapes of the top arch and crown cantilever are also shown.

Comparison of Figures 5.6a and 5.6b shows that the arch stresses are sensitive to the manner in which the dead load is applied, while the cantilever stresses are less so. Application via the construction sequence results in stresses along the top arch of the dam which are typically less than or equal to 0.1 MPa tension or compression, while the instantaneous application results in stresses in the top arch which range from -0.4 MPa (compression) to 1.5 MPa (tension). (Recall that the joints are grouted and hence able to carry some tensile stress.) Since the hydrostatic load is applied in the same manner in the two cases, differences in the stresses under the combined loading are not as striking as in the case where the dead weight acts alone; nonetheless significant differences do occur at and near the abutments in the top arch. The smaller displacements which occur for the construction sequence calculation are attributed to the fact that the reference displacements for each row of elements are taken as zero when added. Thought to be more realistic, the static solution obtained via the construction sequence method is used as the initial condition for the earthquake responses presented later.

# 5.4 Localization of foundation and water stiffness matrices

As outlined in Chapter IV, the condensed foundation and water stiffness matrices,  $[\bar{K}]$  and  $[K_{\rm pp}]$ , respectively, are localized to preserve the bandwidth of the global stiffness matrix of the dam. In order to assess the loss of accuracy incurred by the localization process, the first six eigenfrequencies of the finite element system (with the joints in the closed position) are presented in Table 5.1 for the cases indicated. Comparison of case 1 (empty reservoir, original foundation stiffness matrix) and case 2 (empty reservoir, localized  $[\bar{K}]$ ) shows that localizing  $[\bar{K}]$  loses little accuracy; the errors in the computed eigenvalues range from 0.1% to 1.2%. Cases 3 and 4 both have the original foundation stiffness matrix and a full reservoir, case 3 having the original  $[K_{pp}]$  and case 4 the localized  $[K_{pp}]$ . Comparison shows that some noticeable error is incurred by localizing  $[K_{pp}]$ . The error is largest (about 5%) for the first and fourth modes and ranges from about 0.1% to 2% for the other modes. Case 5 is included in Table 5.1 to illustrate the fact that use of the localized  $\left[K_{\mathrm{pp}}
ight]$  is, despite the errors incurred, a big improvement over the conventional lumped added mass representation of incompressible water (technique described in [46,53]), albeit at a cost of one dof per node. Comparison of cases 3 and 5 shows errors of 17% to 21% in the latter. Incidentally, the resonant frequencies of Pacoima Dam for empty reservoir or low water condition, as determined by forced vibration tests [54,55] are in the range 5.1 Hz to 5.5 Hz for the fundamental symmetric mode and about 5.6 Hz for the fundamental antisymmetric mode. These values are in reasonable agreement with the finite element results.

In order to further investigate the errors incurred in localizing  $[\bar{K}]$ , the foundation region as described by the original and local  $[\bar{K}]$  is loaded by nodal forces and the resulting displacements plotted (Figure 5.7). Agreement between the two sets of displacements is nearly exact at the load point, and, although some errors are evident at distant nodes, the displacements there are small. The agreement evident in Figure 5.7 is consistent with that for the eigenvalues in Table 5.1.

Results of an investigation of the errors incurred in localizing  $[K_{pp}]$  are presented in Figure 5.8. The water domain as described by the original and local  $[K_{pp}]$  is excited by accelerations at the dam face, and the resulting hydrodynamic forces acting on the dam are plotted. Agreement between the two sets of forces is good, but not quite of the quality attained in Figure 5.7. These results are again consistent with those of Table 5.1.

# 5.5 Dynamic analysis of Pacoima Dam under severe ground motion; full and partially full reservoir.

Nonlinear dynamic analysis of Pacoima Dam is performed to simulate the 1971 earthquake experience (water level 45 meters below the crest). As stated previously, ground motion records were obtained by an accelerograph located at the site. However, a question of the degree of influence of the accelerograph location upon the record obtained can be raised. The instrument was located on the edge of a narrow, badly fractured ridge about 15 meters above the dam crest. Observation of the disturbance of topsoil and loose rock on the ridge crest as compared to other areas in the vicinity of the dam indicated that the ground motion on the ridge was unusually high [6]. Consequently, the applied ground motions used in this analysis are those of Figure 5.1 (all three components employed) reduced by a third to approximately account for amplification effects on the ridge. This reduction has been used in previous analyses |6|. It is expected that a more severe case for the stability of the dam is the full reservoir condition. To determine how the dam might have fared in this case, a second nonlinear analysis is carried out with the water level at the crest. Further, to assess the effect of joint opening, and to compare the nonlinear analysis results with conventional linear analysis results, additional linear analyses (joint opening prevented) at the two water levels are performed. For all the computations, the Rayleigh damping parameters  $\alpha_0$  and  $\alpha_1$  are chosen to yield 5% damping at 4 Hz and 20 Hz, while  $\Delta t = 0.01$  seconds, and  $\alpha_B = -0.2$  to provide moderate high frequency dissipation (0.5% at 10 Hz, 2% at 20 Hz). Each nonlinear analysis required about 40 minutes of CPU time on a Cray X-MP/48 computer. By comparison, each linear analysis required about 10 minutes of CPU time.

Results of the analyses, including the static stresses and the maximum tensile and compressive stresses and joint openings reached during the earthquake, are shown in Figure 5.9. (All earthquake responses include the static component.) Figure 5.9a, for example, shows the top arch of the dam (Arch A0). Results are presented both for the partially full and full reservoir cases. For each case, the stresses across the arch under static (dead weight of concrete plus hydrostatic) loading, the maximum tensile stresses at the joints computed via a linear analysis, the maximum joint opening widths computed via a nonlinear analysis, the maximum compressive stresses at the joints computed via a linear analysis and the maximum compressive stresses computed via a nonlinear analysis are shown. Thus, for example, from the plot labelled "MAX. TENSIONS LINEAR ANALYSIS" for the partially full reservoir case, the maximum tensile stress at the left abutment of the arch reached 5.0 MPa (tensile stress positive) during the earthquake. It occurs at the downstream face of the joint and, at the time of its occurrence, the stress at the upstream face of the joint is -3.7 MPa (compressive). The maximum tensile stress reached across the crest during the earthquake is 6.5 MPa at node 22 (for node numbers see Figure 5.3), and it may occur at a different time from that at which the maximum tensile stress occurs at, say, the left abutment. Thus, the stress distribution shown is not the distribution at any particular time; rather, each joint is shown at the time the tensile stress reaches a maximum there. Similarly, for any of the plots in Figure 5.9a, the stresses (shaded, amplitudes given to one decimal place) or openings (unshaded, amplitudes given to two decimal places) shown at each joint occur at the time the indicated quantity (MAX. TENSIONS LINEAR ANALYSIS, for example) reaches a maximum there, except, of course, for the static stress pictures. Note that in the plots of maximum openings, if no opening occurs at a joint, the joint is shown at the time the tensile stress reaches a maximum there (e.g. node 49, partially full

reservoir case), and that in the nonlinear analysis, the maximum compressive stress at a joint often coincides with partial opening of the joint. Figures 5.9c, 5.9e, 5.9g and 5.9i show the maximum stresses and openings at arches A1 to A4 displayed in the same manner as Figure 5.9a, while Figure 5.9b, 5.9d, 5.9f, 5.9h and 5.9j show the corresponding results for cantilevers C-2 to C2. Incidentally, none of the maximum compressive stresses shown in Figure 5.9 occurred with a contact depth less than the 1/8 joint thickness minimum discussed in Chapter II.

Results of the linear analyses to the earthquake motions show whether or not nonlinear behavior will occur and roughly indicate the amount of nonlinearity to be expected. Tensile stresses computed from the linear analyses with the reservoir partially full reach 6.5 MPa in arch A0 (node 22) and about 2.5 MPa in a number of cantilevers, showing that opening of the contraction joints will take place. In addition, this opening will transfer considerable load to the cantilevers and lead to an increase in the cantilever tensions. Presence of the full reservoir increases the tensile stress to 9.1 MPa in arch A0 (node 36) and to 4.0 MPa in several cantilevers, showing that significant joint opening and cracking will occur. Maximum compressive stresses (12.5 MPa in arch A0, node 29, full reservoir) from the linear analyses are not in the nonlinear range, but impacts and partial joint openings may result in significantly higher values.

The nonlinear response of the dam with the partially full reservoir (earthquake simulation case) exhibits complete separation in the upper portions (top 50m) of most of the contraction joints with the maximum opening of 2.3 cm occurring on the upstream face at node 16. As outlined in previous chapters, it is assumed in this study that slip is prevented in the vertical contraction joints by friction and/or shear keys and in the horizontal cracking planes by friction. Even in the case of complete separation of a vertical contraction joint, slip would be prevented if the shear keys (30 cm deep in Pacoima Dam) were perfectly "square". However, the side walls of these keys are actually beveled at 20° to 30° (measured from the normal to the contraction joint) and would allow some free slip under complete separation with unknown consequences on the dam response. (If a joint opens uniformly by

1 cm, relative radial displacement of up to 0.5 cm, a significant amount, would be permitted.) Although the openings of the contraction joints increase the loads carried by the cantilevers; nonetheless, the cantilever tensions remain below the 3.1 MPa tensile strength except at the downstream face at node 24 where a small amount of cracking occurs. Thus, for the cantilevers, the no-slip assumption may not be violated.

The predicted openings of the contraction joints are not necessarily in conflict with the lack of observed cracking following the 1971 earthquake since such evidence may have been hard to detect. On the other hand, a 2.4 cm permanent narrowing of the canyon which occurred as a result of the earthquake [6] and is not included in the analysis would, assuming that it occurred simultaneously with the strong ground motion, offset much of the computed openings of the contraction joints and consequently reduce the cantilever tensions. Also, the uniform ground motion assumption (i.e., the assumption of spatially uniform free-field motion of the canyon) is generally felt to result in an overestimation of the dam response [56]. The only joint opening predicted by the analysis which is known to have occurred is that at the left abutment of the dam. However, the actual opening may have been caused by the slumping of the rock mass on the left abutment which was not included in the analysis.

The maximum arch compressive stress in the nonlinear response with the reservoir partially full is 12.7 MPa which occurs on the crest at node 43 and is less than half the value of  $f'_c$  (29 MPa). Consequently it does not violate the assumption of a linear stress-strain relation in the concrete. No other arch compression exceeds 10 MPa and compressions in arches A1, A2 etc. are much smaller. The maximum cantilever compressive stresss is 6.3 MPa. It occurs at the upstream face at node 24 and corresponds to a partial opening on the downstream face at that node.

Although the times at which the openings and compressive stresses reach maximum values are not shown in Figure 5.9, most of the larger openings and compressive stresses in the dam for the partially full reservoir occur between t = 8 seconds and t = 9 seconds. To further examine the nonlinear behavior during this time period, Figure 5.10 presents a sequence of 12 'snapshots' taken from t = 8.21 to t = 8.30 seconds and from t = 8.54 to t = 8.98 seconds. The layout of each snapshot is the same as that in Figure 5.6; i.e., the stress distributions along the top arch (A0) and crown cantilever (C0) are presented together with the deformed shapes, including joint openings, of the arch and cantilever. The first three pictures, at t = 8.21, t = 8.25 and t = 8.30 illustrate the behavior during the period when the maximum downstream displacement occurs. The magnitude of this symmetric deformation is about 5.0 cm at node 22. The deformation is accompanied by compressive arch stresses, reaching 8.6 MPa at the left abutment (node 58) at t = 8.25. The accompanying cantilever stresses are much smaller (max. 1.6 MPa compression, 1.5 MPa tension) suggesting that much of the load is taken by arch action.

Both the maximum joint opening and maximum compressive stress on the dam occur during the period t = 8.54 and t = 8.98 seconds. The maximum joint opening (2.3 cm at node 16) occurs at t = 8.63 seconds at the time of the maximum upstream displacement of the dam (about 6.0 cm radial displacement at node 22) and is accompanied by significant opening at several other joints along the arch and by a significant increase in cantilever stresses (up to 4.3 MPa compression, 2.3 MPa tension). Approximately half a cycle later, at t = 8.73 seconds, the arch has displaced into an axisymmetric configuration, and the maximum compressive stress of 12.7 MPa occurs at node 43 under a condition of partial opening. Another half a cycle later, at t = 8.91 seconds, significant opening occurs at several joints across the arch, and the displacement and stress patterns are very similar to those at the previous large upstream excursion at t = 8.63 seconds.

The full reservoir significantly increases the dam response (Figure 5.9) with openings in the contraction joints reaching 5.3 cm at node 29 and openings in the cracking planes reaching 6.7 cm at node 37; both maxima occur under complete separations. The maximum compressive arch and cantilever stresses reach values of 19.7 MPa (at node 58) and 25.2 MPa (at node 23), respectively. Note that both of these maximum compressive stresses are accompanied by partial opening of the joint from the opposite face with a corresponding reduction in the stress block depth. However, unlike the partially full reservoir case, where large ( $\geq 9$  MPa) compressive stresses only occur at partially open joints, in the full reservoir case compressive stresses up to 18 MPa occur at joints which are completely closed (node 29). Further, in the full reservoir case, the arch compressive stresses at the crest and the cantilever compressive stresses in the top horizontal joint are large enough to bring the linear stress-strain assumption for the concrete into question. In addition, both the large separations which occur in the contraction joints and the large lift-off in the top horizontal joint violate the no-slip assumption. As pointed out previously, the beveled contraction joints allow some relative radial motion to accompany complete opening, while the assumption that friction along the cracking planes prohibits slip is obviously violated in the case of complete lift-off.

Figure 5.11 presents a sequence of 11 'snapshots' of the top arch and crown cantilever for the nonlinear response with full reservoir taken between t = 8.04 and t = 8.53 seconds. During this period, maximum values are reached for joint openings in the top arch and crown cantilever as well as for the cantilever compressive stresses. The maximum arch compressive stress of 19.7 MPa occurs at node 58 at a slightly later time, but this is an isolated stress event occurring over a much reduced contact area for a very short duration and not accompanied by other large compressions along the arch. Consequently, the large compressive stress occurring at and near the crown of the arch during the time period encompassed by Figure 5.11 may be of greater importance.

Significant contraction joint opening, up to about 2.0 cm at node 36, occurs during the upstream displacement of the arch from t = 8.04 to about t = 8.20 seconds, and is accompanied by small partial openings of the cantilever joints. Complete separation of a cantilever joint (node 30) occurs at t = 8.22 seconds when the dam is beginning its downstream excursion. Approximately one quarter of a cycle later, at t = 8.28 seconds, the dam reaches its maximum downstream displacement, about 11.0 cm at node 29, coinciding with high compressive stresses across almost the full length of the arch. The maximum stress of 18 MPa occurs at the crown of the arch and is at about the upper limit for the linear stress-strain assumption. Shortly thereafter, another cantilever separation occurs at node 30 followed by recontact and development of a large cantilever compressive stress (18.4 MPa) at maximum upstream displacement (t = 8.37 seconds). After reversal, complete cantilever separation again occurs culminating in the maximum opening of 6.6 cm in the top cracking plane at t = 8.47 seconds and coinciding with the maximum contraction joint opening (node 29) of 5.3 cm. The cycle concludes at about 8.53 seconds. Thereafter, no joint openings or compressive stresses occur which are comparable to those occurring during the time period encompassed by Figure 5.11. However, because of the violation of the material linearity (25.2 MPa compression in cantilever -1) and no-slip assumptions, a more sophisticated analysis would be required to determine the fate of the dam in the full reservoir condition subjected to the specified ground motions. The cantilever lift-offs also warrant further investigation, as the source of this feature of the response is not evident.

Selected time histories of the dam response, shown in Figure 5.12, provide additional insight into the nonlinear behavior. Each quantity plotted is displayed from t = 6.0 seconds to t = 10.0 seconds since most of the important activity takes place in this time range. Plots of average radial dynamic displacement at node 29 (Figure 5.12a) show larger peak amplitudes and some period elongation due to joint opening, although the period elongation for the full reservoir case is obscured by a high frequency component of the response. For the nonlinear responses, displacements are generally greater upstream than downstream because of joint opening although an occasional large downstream displacement is seen as, for example, in the full reservoir case at t = 8.28 seconds giving rise to high arch compressive stresses (see Figure 5.11).

Time histories of the contraction joint openings at node 29 (Figure 5.12b) show that the precompression provided by a full reservoir significantly reduces the number of joint openings; i.e., the joints tend to rattle less. On the other hand, the openings which do occur are typically of greater amplitude and longer duration (0.1 to 0.15 seconds for the larger openings) than in the partially full reservoir case (about 0.08 seconds duration). As was pointed out in Chapter III, joint opening

may allow for water intrusion with unknown consequences on the dam response. The effect may not be large at node 29 where water pressures are low, but could be important at, say, node 31, approximately 30 meters below the surface. Figure 5.12c shows the time histories of joint opening at node 31 at the upstream faces of the vertical and horizontal joints (full reservoir). At the vertical joint, a single significant opening of 0.6 cm with a duration of 0.09 seconds occurs at t = 8.42 seconds, while at the horizontal joint, a considerable amount of opening occurs in the time period t = 6 to t = 10 seconds, with a maximum opening width of 3 cm and duration of 0.11 seconds at t = 8.31 seconds. The time history of the absolute water pressure (atmospheric plus hydrostatic plus hydrodynamic) at node 31 (Figure 5.12d) shows values at t = 8.31 and t = 8.42 seconds of 0.45 MPa and 0.15 MPa (compression positive for water pressure), respectively. These are not close to the peak compressive pressure (0.85 MPa) because the large upstream openings in the joints occur during an upstream excursion when the dam is accelerating away from the water. Still, water intrusion is possible and warrants investigation.

The time histories of arch compressive stresses at node 29, presented in Figures 5.12e exhibit very high frequency oscillations, mitigated somewhat by the dissipation parameter  $\alpha_B$ , which may be partly numerical and partly due to impacts. With the dilatational wave velocity in concrete about 3300 m/s and with an element dimension of, at most, 20 meters, the time for a stress wave to traverse an element would be about 0.006 seconds, or about half the time step length (0.01 seconds). Consequently the high frequency impact behavior of the stress responses probably cannot be accurately captured by the element and time step size employed.

Another phenomenon which was not included in this study, but was mentioned briefly in Chapter III is cavitation, which occurs where the absolute pressure reduces below zero (actually below the vapor pressure of water, about 0.002 MPa). The plot of the absolute pressure at node 30 (full reservoir) in Figure 5.12f shows that while it drops below zero several times between t = 6.0 and t = 10.0 seconds, the negative pressure peaks are isolated and of short duration, and only two (-0.15 MPa at t = 8.40 seconds and -0.1 MPa at t = 8.90 seconds) are significantly less than zero. In addition, node 30 along line C0 is the only one where cavitation is indicated. Further, no cavitation occurs at all with a partially full reservoir. These results suggest that, at least for this analysis, cavitation may be a relatively unimportant effect. The dependence of the pressure responses on water compressibility (not included) is noted.

The most important conclusion from the analysis of the dam with a full reservoir subjected to severe ground shaking is that the primary assumptions on which this analysis method are based, namely the no-slip assumption in the joints and the linear stress-strain assumption in the concrete, are violated to too great an extent to draw any definite conclusions regarding the dam's stability, and thus how it might have fared during the 1971 earthquake had the reservoir been full.

## 5.6 Dynamic analysis with lower intensity ground motion

A further study was undertaken to examine the response of the dam with a full reservoir to ground motions somewhat less intense than those used in the analysis described above. For this analysis, the records in Figure 5.1 are scaled to give a maximum horizontal ground acceleration of 0.5g. The scaling factor required is about 0.44, and results in a maximum vertical acceleration of about 0.3g. While considerably less intense than the ground motions measured at the site, this still represents a substantial earthquake. Both linear and nonlinear analyses were performed. Results of the analyses, including static stresses, maximum dynamic tensile and compressive stresses and maximum dynamic joint openings are shown in Figure 5.13, displayed in the same manner as the results for previous analyses (Figure 5.9).

It is apparent that the dam response is considerably reduced from that which occurs due to the more intense ground motion. However, maximum tensile stresses from the linear analysis are still large enough (5.2 MPa arch at node 36) to indicate that nonlinear behavior will be present. In fact, significant separations occur in several contraction joints near the top of the dam, reaching a maximum of 2.2 cm at node 36. This is a violation of the no-slip assumption. Below the top arch of the dam, much less opening takes place. No cracking of the joints along the crown cantilever occurs, but significant partial opening takes place in the top two joints in cantilevers C-1 and C1 (Figures 5.13b and c). The maximum arch and cantilever compressive stresses are 10.8 MPa (node 58) and 8.3 MPa (node 38, coinciding with the maximum opening at that joint), respectively. The magnitudes of these stresses are well within the linear stress-strain realm. Stresses in the lower reaches of the dam are much smaller.

Figure 5.14 presents a sequence of 'snapshots' of arch A0 and cantilever C1 (rather than C0 which does not experience any cracking or high stresses) for the nonlinear response taken between t = 8.93 and t = 9.40 seconds, during which time the most significant joint openings and compressive stresses occur. At t =8.93 seconds, complete lift-off of the uppermost block of cantilever C1 is present. However, the amount of lift-off is small (about 0.1 cm on the upstream face) and is of very short (about 0.02 seconds) duration. The maximum arch compressive stress (9.3 MPa at node 36) occurs at t = 8.95 seconds and is associated with a downstream excursion causing compression across the arch. At t = 8.97 seconds, the arch is still on the downstream excursion, but the peak compressive stress (8.6 MPa) has shifted to node 29. Another small and brief separation at the horizontal joint at node 37 occurs at t = 9.02 seconds. A short time later (t = 9.23 seconds), the arch is once again displaced in the downstream direction. During the following upstream excursion of the arch, at t = 9.33 seconds, the maximum cantilever compressive stress (8.3 MPa) occurs at node 38 while the maximum contraction joint opening (2.2 cm at node 36) and cantilever joint opening (1.8 cm at node 37) occur one time step later at t = 9.34 seconds. Note also that complete separation of the left abutment joint occurs at t = 9.33 seconds. Lastly, the downstream displacement at t = 9.40 seconds results in a stress pattern in the arch very similar to that at t = 8.95 seconds.

Figure 5.15 presents time histories of average radial dynamic displacement at node 29 for linear and nonlinear analyses. These time histories are similar both in terms of amplitudes and periods, reflecting the limited amount of nonlinear activity which takes place. However, this activity is sufficient to cause a 2.2 cm separation in the contraction joint at node 36 which, as mentioned earlier, is of some concern regarding violation of the no-slip assumption. The minor lift-offs seen in several horizontal joints may be less important.

#### 5.7 Investigation of no-slip constraint in joints

An additional calculation was made to investigate some features of not permitting any slip in the joints as pertains to possible collapse of the dam. The pseudo-static response of the dam was computed for a constant ground acceleration in the downstream and cross-stream directions. The tensile strength of all joints was set to zero, the reservoir was taken to be empty, and no dead load was applied. Figure 5.16 shows the results for a 1 g ground acceleration applied in the downstream direction. The stresses and openings along each of the arches A0 to A5 and cantilevers C-4 to C4 are displayed in a manner similar to Figure 5.6. In addition, the deformed shape (openings omitted) of each arch and cantilever is shown in dashed lines. The maximum opening at any joint is 3.69 cm on the downstream face of the dam-foundation interface joint at node 10. Most of the vertical contraction joints and interface joints are completely or almost completely open except in the lower reaches of the dam where some joints have significant contact depths. Most of the horizontal cracking planes are open (by as much as 1.45 cm) on their downstream faces but are closed on their upstream faces. The maximum radial displacement of the crest relative to the ground is 19.8 cm. If the ground acceleration is increased beyond 1 g, the joint openings and compressive stresses increase linearly but the dam remains stable. Thus, the no-slip constraint on the joint provides sufficient stiffness to prevent collapse even though joints are free to open. The results of the pseudo-static analysis with a ground acceleration of 1 g in the cross-stream direction also showed the dam to be stable, with a maximum radial displacement of the crest of 3.1 cm. Thus, joint slip appears to be an important ingredient for collapse, and the present analytical technique cannot be used for collapse simulations.

	Case 1	Case 2	· Case 3	Case 4	Case 5
-	original	local	original	original	original
reservoir	empty	empty	full	full	full
water		_	FEM	FEM	LAM
$K_{ m pp}$			original	local	
mode 1 (S)	5.203	5.213	4.140	4.363	3.392
mode 2 (A)	5.245	5.270	4.324	4.405	3.588
mode 3 (S)	7.888	7.896	6.624	6.672	5.486
mode 4 (S)	8.878	8.967	7.363	7.755	5.824
mode 5 (A)	10.032	10.129	9.119	9.105	7.164
mode 6 (A)	10.432	10.565	9.346	9.358	7.357

Table 5.1.

Eigenfrequencies (hz.) of Pacoima Dam-water-foundation system under various conditions. FEM = finite element. LAM = lumped added mass. S = symmetric mode. A = antisymmetric mode.  $[\bar{K}]$  = foundation stiffness matrix.  $[K_{pp}]$  = water stiffness matrix.





.



Finite element mesh of Pacoima Dam.

Figure 5.2



-99-




-101-

Figure 5.6

a and b (next 2 pages). Results of static load application to Pacoima Dam showing normal stresses (MPa, tension positive, compression negative) in arch A0 and cantilever C0 and their deformed shapes (solid line, original profile dashed line).



-103-





a. Applied forces and plotted displacements are in the  $\hat{z}$  direction (approximately normal to the dam midsurface).



b. Applied forces and plotted displacements are in the  $\hat{x}$  direction (normal to the foundation interface).

Figure 5.7 Results of investigation to assess localization of  $[\bar{K}]$ . Forces are applied at nodes 3, 15 and 35 on the foundation interface, and the displacements are plotted around the interface. Each displacement profile from the original  $[\bar{K}]$  is normalized to a peak value of one and the scale factor required is also used to scale the corresponding displacement profile from the local  $[\bar{K}]$ .



a. Acceleration of node 12.



b. Acceleration of node 31.

#### Figure 5.8

Results of investigation to assess localization of  $[K_{\rm pp}]$ . Applied accelerations and plotted hydrodynamic forces are in the  $\hat{z}$  direction (approximately normal to the dam mid-surface). Each hydrodynamic force profile from the original  $[K_{\rm pp}]$  is normalized to a peak value of one and the scale factor required is also used to scale the corresponding hydrodynamic force profile from the local  $[K_{\rm pp}]$ . Figure 5.9 a to j (next 10 pages). Summary of the earthquake responses of Pacoima Dam to the records of Figure 5.1 scaled by 2/3. Results for both the partially full and full reservoirs are presented: static stresses, maximum tensions for linear analysis, maximum openings for nonlinear analysis, and maximum compressions for linear and nonlinear analysis. Stresses (MPa) are shaded with amplitudes given to one decimal place. Openings (cm) are unshaded with amplitudes given to two decimal places.

\*\*\*\*\* \*\*/\*\* \*//\* !/\* » • • 1. (6' 1:0 5.0 6.5 8.2 5.1 1.8 1.0 0 0.3 5.1 1.6 2.2 2.8 3.0 4.2 4.0 0 1.0 0.4 5.1 1.6 1.2 2.6 3.0 4.2 4.0 4.1 0.21 2.32 1.48 0.91 1.19 1.69 1.69 0.91 1.19 1.69 1.69 1.7 0. 16 -1. 3 -1. 4 -6. 3 0. 15 0. 15 0. 16 -1. 6 -1. 7 -8. 6 -1. 7 5. 1 HAX. COMPRESSIONS PARTIALLY FULL RESERVOIR A.1 2.9 5.9 -6.1 4.0 4.8 NGNLINEAR ANALYSIS LINEAR ANALYSIS Arch 0 (ground motion scale = 2/3). V. V. 6.6 1.6 7.0 8.0 8.1 8.8 2. V. V. 6.6 1.6 0.8 4.7 4.0 4.2 2.4 2.7 V. V. 1.0 1.16 1.6 0.8 4.7 4.0 4.2 2.4 2.7 A.1 -10.0 -11.0 -12.5 -11.0 -2.2 A.1 -10.0 -1.2 -1.2 -1.0 -2.5 5.1 -14.5 -18.0 -15.6 -12.0 -12.0 -7.5 -10.0 -7.8 -8.1 NONLINEAR ANALYSIS MAX. COMPRESSIONS FULL RESERVOIR LINEAR ANALYSIS Figure 5.9a. · 2 · 2 · 2 · 2 

-108-



PARTIALLY FULL RESERVOIR

FULL RESERVOIR



Figure 5.9b.

Cantilever 0 (ground motion scale = 2/3).



-110-



## PARTIALLY FULL RESERVOIR

Figure 5.9d.

Cantilever -1 (ground motion scale = 2/3).



-112-





Figure 5.9f.

Cantilever 1 (ground motion scale = 2/3).



1.2

٥ 2 Figure 5.9g. IAX.

Arch 3 (ground motion scale = 2/3).

PARTIALLY FULL RESERVOIR

-114-









-115-





Figure 5.9i.

Arch 4 (ground motion scale = 2/3).





Figure 5.9j.

Cantilever 2 (ground motion scale = 2/3).

Figure 5.10

(next 6 pages). Sequence of snapshots of arch A0 and cantilever C0 from the nonlinear earthquake response of Pacoima Dam to the records of Figure 5.1 scaled by 2/3. Results are for the partially full reservoir: normal stresses (shaded, tension positive, compression negative, amplitude given in MPa to one decimal place), joint openings (unshaded, amplitude given in cm to two decimal places), and deformed shape (solid line, original profile dashed line).





-120-



-121-



-122-



-123-



-124-

Figure 5.11

(next 6 pages). Sequence of snapshots of arch A0 and cantilever C0 from the nonlinear earthquake response of Pacoima Dam to the records of Figure 5.1 scaled by 2/3. Results are for the full reservoir: normal stresses (shaded, tension positive, compression negative, amplitude given in MPa to one decimal place), joint openings (unshaded, amplitude given in cm to two decimal places), and deformed shape (solid line, original profile dashed line).







-128-







Figure 5.11

Figure 5.12 a to f (next 7 pages). Selected time histories (6.0 to 10.0 seconds) from various analyses of Pacoima Dam using the records of Figure 5.1 scaled by 2/3.



Figure 5.12a.

Average dynamic radial displacement at node 29 (ground motion scale = 2/3).



Figure 5.12a.

(continued). Average dynamic radial displacement at node 29 (ground motion scale = 2/3).



Figure 5.12b.

Opening of vertical joint on upstream face at node 29 (ground motion scale = 2/3).






Figure 5.12e.

Stress on upstream face on vertical joint at node 29 (ground motion scale = 2/3).



Figure 5.13

a to e (next 5 pages). Summary of the earthquake responses of Pacoima Dam to the records of Figure 5.1 scaled by 0.44. Results are for full reservoir: static stresses, maximum tensions for linear analysis, maximum openings for nonlinear analysis, and maximum compressions for linear and nonlinear analysis. Stresses (MPa) are shaded with amplitudes given to one decimal place. Openings (cm) are unshaded with amplitudes given to two decimal places.



Figure 5.13a.

Arch 0 and Cantilever 0 (ground motion scale = 0.44, full reservoir).



Figure 5.13b.

Arch 1 and Cantilever -1 (ground motion scale = 0.44, full reservoir).



Figure 5.13c.

Arch 2 and Cantilever 1 (ground motion scale = 0.44, full reservoir).



Figure 5.13d.

Arch 3 and Cantilever -2 (ground motion scale = 0.44, full reservoir).





Arch 4 and Cantilever 2 (ground motion scale = 0.44, full reservoir).

Figure 5.14

(next 6 pages). Sequence of snapshots of arch A0 and cantilever C1 from the nonlinear earthquake response of Pacoima Dam to the records of Figure 5.1 scaled by 0.44. Results are for the full reservoir: normal stresses (shaded, tension positive, compression negative, amplitude given in MPa to one decimal place), joint openings (unshaded, amplitude given in cm to two decimal places), and deformed shape (solid line, original profile dashed line).



-147-







-150-





-152-





Figure 5.16

a and b. (next 2 pages). Results of pseudo-static analysis of Pacoima Dam using a 1g ground acceleration in the downstream direction: compressive stresses (shaded, amplitude given in MPa to one decimal place), joint openings (unshaded, amplitude given in cm to two decimal places), and deformed shape (dashed line).





Pseudo-static test. Arches A0 to A5.





Pseudo-static test. Cantilevers C-4 to C4.

# CHAPTER VI SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

# 6.1 Summary

In this dissertation, the nonlinear response of jointed concrete arch dams to earthquake excitation is examined. The development of a two-dof nonlinear spring element to model the gradual opening and closing of joints in two-dimensional slabs and arches is first outlined. To demonstrate the accuracy and efficiency of this equivalent joint element, the results of static and dynamic analysis of a two dimensional arch, in one case modeled with slab finite elements connected by these joint elements, and in the other case modeled by a fine discretization through the depth of plane finite elements and joint springs, are compared. Further, an extensive analysis of the arch structure, using the slab element-equivalent joint element discretization, is carried out by subjecting the arch to a series of successively stronger ground motions in order to observe the increasing amout of joint opening which occurs and its effect on the dynamic response of the arch. Thereafter, the generalization of the two-dimensional joint element for use in a three-dimensional arch dam model is described, together with the treatment of some important features of the analysis, namely foundation-structure interaction, fluid-structure interaction and dead load application. Lastly, all these features are incorporated into a series of three-dimensional linear and nonlinear analyses of Pacoima Dam in which the dam-foundation-water system (full reservoir and partially full reservoir) is subjected to ground motions of various intensities.

# 6.2 Conclusions

The results of Chapter III show that the equivalent joint element, whose development is outlined in Chapter II, is capable of modeling with a reasonable degree of accuracy the gradual opening and closing mechanism of a two-dimensional interface joint. Further, the results show that the opening and closing of joints in a two-dimensional arch has a significant effect on the dynamic response.

As shown in Chapter V, inclusion of a massless foundation region and an incompressible water domain can be accomplished efficiently and accurately for a three-dimensional arch dam by condensing out all dof not connected to the dam and then localizing the condensed matrices. However, there are still errors incurred from omitting foundation mass and water compressibility. Those arising from omitting foundation mass are thought to be tolerable, while water compressibility effects may be important in some cases. However, inclusion of water compressibility can only be accomplished with a great increase in computational effort.

Because of the dependence of the nonlinear dynamic response on the initial static solution, it is necessary to apply the dead weight of the dam in a more realistic manner than instantaneously to the continuous and completely finished structure. Simulation of the construction process considerably reduces the dead weight stresses in the upper part of the dam, especially near the abutments, and should have an important effect on the computed dynamic openings of the contraction joints.

The results of the dynamic analysis of Pacoima Dam in Chapter V show that, for moderate to severe ground shaking, several nonlinear phenomena are present with varying degrees of importance. Of these, the most important is the opening of the upper portions of the vertical contraction joints and dam-foundation interface joints. Opening and separation of these joints occurs even at moderate levels of excitation, even if the joints are grouted, and significantly affects the dam's response. The separations would most certainly be accompanied by appreciable joint slip, an effect not considered here, since typical shear keys have beveled geometries. The effect of the no-slip constraint is presently unknown. Slip in the contraction joints could be approximately included with the addition of perhaps three more relative dof per node. Although this would double the computational effort, it would greatly improve the validity of the analysis procedure.

Another important nonlinearity revealed in the analysis of Pacoima Dam, which is partly induced by the loss of arch stiffness, is cracking in the cantilevers. In addition, the analysis with full reservoir and intense ground motion predicts significant lift-offs in the cracking planes, which, once again, violate the no-slip constraint. Generalization of the analysis technique to include slip in both the horizontal cracking planes and vertical contraction joints appears to be very difficult. The level of excitation, with full reservoir, which produces significant lift-offs in the cantilever cracking planes also results in compressive stresses in the nonlinear range. Nonlinear behavior in compression is another feature which appears to be very difficult to incorporate in the present scheme. Thus, the present analytical technique, generalized to include slip in the contraction joints, will have a legitimate range of applicability, but may be unable to model a dam subjected to intense ground motions under the full reservoir condition. On the other hand, the prediction of significant lift-offs in the cantilever cracking planes and compressive stresses in the nonlinear range may indicate that remedial action need be taken.

One way to extend the valid range of the analysis technique is to relieve some of the assumptions which may have increased the response level, i.e., no structural damping associated with the joints and uniform free-field ground motions. Structural damping in the joints involves inelastic impacts and friction. A procedure for inclusion of inelastic impacts is not clear at the present time due to the gradual nature of the impacts which arises from the varying contact area. Regarding friction, a mechanism could be incorporated in new provisions for slip in the contraction joints. Relieving the assumption of uniform free-field ground motions could not make use of the common pseudo-static and dynamic decomposition for nonuniform excitations because of the presence of nonlinearities, and the best procedure is not evident at present.

The importance of water cavitation was not indicated by the analyses performed as the negative excursions of water pressure were few in number and small in amplitude. However, because water compressibility may significantly affect the dynamic water pressures, the importance of water cavitation should ideally be judged when water compressibility is included.

Incorporation of water intrusion into open joints and cracks is a difficult assignment that would involve considerable fluid mechanics. One simplistic approach would be to modify the stiffnesses of the joint elements to reflect an internal pressure which has the same time variation as the computed external pressure. Such an approach would be conservative regarding the amount of water intrusion into a joint or crack, but unconservative regarding the higher pressures generated when the water is squeezed out.

Finally, a few comments are in order regarding implications of the present study on the safety of Pacoima Dam. Certainly, results of the attempt to reproduce the 1971 earthquake event with full reservoir show the dam to be severely stressed, and, even though the dam response may have been overestimated by assuming uniform ground motion and neglecting dissipation in the joints, it would be prudent to consider restrictions on the water level if a similar event were possible in the future. However, the earthquake with greatest potential to effect Pacoima Dam in the next hundred years, either a magnitude 8+ on the San Andreas Fault 32 km distant or a repeat of the 1971 event on an adjacent segment of the same fault 20 km away [6], may be less severe, although a longer duration for the San Andreas earthquake would be of concern. Ground motion time histories estimated to be characteristic of these events and intended to be used as input in analyses had maximum accelerations slightly exceeding 0.3g for both [6]. Linear analyses for these possible, future motions were carried out in reference 6, but no analyses have been performed here. An additional consideration is that Pacoima Dam is primarily a flood control structure, and the possibility of an earthquake occurring simultaneously with a high water level is small. Lastly, a concern over the stability of the rock mass on the left abutment (for which much remedial action has been taken) has not been addressed here.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Hatano, T. and T. Nakagawa, Seismic Analysis of Arch Dams Coupled Vibrations of Dam Body and Reservoir Water, Technical Report of the Central Research Institute of Electric Power Institute, Tokyo, November 1972.
- 2. Bathe, K.-J., E.L. Wilson and F.E. Peterson, SAP IV: Structural Analysis Program for Static and Dynamic Response of Linear Systems, Earthquake Engineering Research Center Report No. EERC 73-11, University of California, Berkeley, 1973.
- 3. Clough, R.W., J.M. Raphael and S. Mojtahedi, ADAP-A Computer Program for Static and Dynamic Analysis of Arch Dams, Earthquake Engineering Research Center Report No. EERC 73-14, University of California, Berkeley, 1973.
- 4. Priscu, R., et al., New Aspects in the Earthquake Analysis of Arch Dams, Criteria and Assumptions for Numerical Analysis of Dams, D.N. Naylor, et al., editor, Swansea, September 1975.
- 5. Fok, K.-L., J.F. Hall and A.K. Chopra, *EACD-3D: A Computer Program* for Three-Dimensional Earthquake Analysis of Concrete Dams, Earthquake Engineering Research Center Report No. UCB/EERC 86/09, University of California, Berkeley, July 1986.
- 6. International Engineering Company, Inc., Pacoima Arch Dam, Investigation and Evaluation of Effects of San Fernando Earthquake, Report to Los Angeles County Flood Control District, August 1972.
- 7. Lindvall, Richter and Associates, Final Report for Investigation and Reanalysis of the Big Tujunga Dam, Report to Los Angeles County Flood Control District, October 1975.
- 8. International Engineering Company, Inc., Final Report on Investigation and Re-analysis of Santa Anita Dam, Report to Los Angeles County Flood Control District, August 1977.
- 9. Design and Analysis of Auburn Dam, Volume Four, Dynamic Studies, U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, Denver, April 1978.
- 10. Dungar, R., Aseismic Design Considerations for a Large Arch Dam, Dams and Earthquake, Institution of Civil Engineers London, 1980.
- 11. Bowes, D.E., A.X. Sison and A.L. O'Neill, *Hazard Assessment of Arch Dam* in a Seismic Zone, Journal of the Hydraulics Division, ASCE, February 1981.
- 12. Kreuzer, H.L., The Design of El Cajon: A Retrospective View, Water Power and Dam Construction, October 1983.
- 13. Tarbox, G.S., K.J. Dreher and L.R. Carpenter, Seismic Analysis of Concrete Dams, Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Large Dams, Question 51, New Delhi, 1979.
- 14. Kolgaard, E.B. and R.P. Sharma, Seismic Stability Evaluation of Existing Concrete Dams, Paper presented at the Evaluation of Dam Safety Conference, sponsored by the Engineering Foundation, 1976.

- 15. Clough, R.W., Nonlinear Mechanisms in the Seismic Response of Arch Dams, Proceedings of the International Research Conference on Earthquake Engineering, Skopje, 1980.
- 16. Herzog, M.A.M., Failure Mechanisms in Dams Subject to Earthquakes, Water Power and Dam Construction, August 1980.
- 17. Oberti, G. and E. Lauletta, Structural Models for the Study of Dam Earthquake Resistance, Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Large Dams, Question 35, Istanbul, 1967.
- 18. Gutidze, P.A., Model Investigations of Seismic Action on the Concrete Arch Dam of the Inguri Hydroelectric Station, Gidrotekhnicheskoe Stroitel'stvo, No. 11, November 1985.
- Dungar, R. and R.T. Severn, A Resume of Experience Gained in the Static and Dynamic Analysis of Arch Dams, Criteria and Assumptions for Numerical Analysis of Dams, D.N. Naylor, et al., editor, Swansea, September 1975.
- 20. Pal, N., Seismic Cracking of Concrete Gravity Dams, Journal of the Structural Division, ASCE, September 1976.
- 21. Zienkiewicz, O.C., et al., Computational Models for the Transient Dynamic Analysis of Concrete Dams, Dams and Earthquake, Institution of Civil Engineers, London, 1980.
- 22. Hamon, M., P. Pouyet and A. Carrere, *Three Dimensional Finite Element* Analysis of the Laparan Dam, Water Power and Dam Construction, August 1983.
- 23. Norman, C.D. and F.A. Anderson, Reanalysis of Cracking In Large Concrete Dams in the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on Large Dams, Question 57, Lausanne, 1985.
- 24. Croucamp, W.S. and C. Grobbelaar, The Three-Dimensional Evaluation of the Effects of Structural Discontinuities in an Arch Dam and a Multiple Dome Dam, Criteria and Assumptions for Numerical Analysis of Dams, D.N. Naylor, et al., editor, Swansea, September 1975.
- 25. Ricketts, R.E. and O.C. Zienkiewicz, Preformed 'Cracks' and their Influence on Behavior of Concrete Dams, Criteria and Assumptions for Numerical Analysis of Dams, D.N. Naylor, et al., editor, Swansea, September 1975.
- 26. Row, D. and V. Schricker, Seismic Analysis of Structures with Localized Nonlinearities, Proceedings of the 8th World Conference on Earthquake Engineering, San Francisco, 1984.
- O' Connor, J.P.F., The Finite Element Analysis of Arch Dams in Wide Valleys Including the Effect of Crack Formation at the Concrete-Rock Interface, Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineering, Part 2, September 1985.
- 28. O' Connor, J.P.F., The Modeling of Cracks, Potential Crack Surfaces and Construction Joints in Arch Dams by Curved Surface Interface Elements, Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on Large Dams, Lausanne, 1985.

- 29. Goodman, R.E., R.L. Taylor and T.L. Brekke, A Model for the Mechanics of Jointed Rock, Journal of the Soil Mechanics and Foundations Division, ASCE, May 1968.
- 30. Ghaboussi, J., E.L. Wilson and J. Isenberg, *Finite Element for Rock Joints* and Interfaces, Journal of the Soil Mechanics and Foundations Division, ASCE, October 1973.
- 31. Strikerud, P.E. and H. Bachmann, Discrete Crack Modeling for Dynamically Loaded, Unreinforced Concrete Structures, Earthquake Engineering and Structural Dynamics, Vol. 14, No. 2, March-April 1986.
- Kuo, J. S.-H., Joint-Opening Nonlinear Mechanism: Interface Smeared Crack Model, Earthquake Engineering Research Center Report No. UCB/EERC 82/10, University of California, Berkeley, August 1982.
- 33. Graves, R., Improved Interface Smeared Crack Model for Concrete, U.S. Military Academy, West Point, 1986.
- 34. Aldstead, E. and P.G. Bergan, Nonlinear Time-Dependent Concrete-Frame Analysis, Journal of the Structural Division, ASCE, July 1978.
- 35. Hall, J. F. and M.J. Dowling, Response of Jointed Arches to Earthquake Excitation, Earthquake Engineering and Structural Dynamics, Vol. 13, No. 6, November-December 1985.
- Niwa, A. and R.W. Clough, Nonlinear Seismic Response of Arch Dams, Earthquake Engineering and Structural Dynamics, Vol. 10, No. 2, March-April 1982.
- 37. Bathe, K.-J., Finite Element Procedures in Engineering Analysis, Prentice-Hall, 1982.
- 38. Hughes, T.J.R., The Finite Element Method, Prentice-Hall, 1987.
- Adams, D.D. and W.L. Wood, Comparison of Hilber-Hughes-Taylor and Bossak 'α-Methods' for the Numerical Integration of Vibration Equations, International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering, Vol. 19, No. 5, 1983.
- 40. Clough, R.W. and J. Penzien, **Dynamics of Structures**, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1975.
- 41. Hall, J.F. and M.J. Dowling, Analysis of the Nonlinear Seismic Response of Arch Dams, Proceedings of China-U.S. Workshop on Earthquake Behavior of Arch Dams, Beijing, China, June 1987.
- 42. Clough, R.W., K.-T. Chang, et al., Dynamic Response Behavior of Xiang Hong Dian Dam, Earthquake Engineering Research Center Report No. UCB/EERC 84/02, University of California, Berkeley, April 1984.
- Clough, R.W., K.-T. Chang, et al., Dynamic Response Behavior of Quan Shui Dam, Earthquake Engineering Research Center Report No. UCB/EERC 84/20, University of California, Berkeley, November 1984.
- 44. Fok, K.-L., and A.K. Chopra, Earthquake Analysis and Response of Concrete Arch Dams, Earthquake Engineering Research Center Report No. UCB/EERC 85/07, University of California, Berkeley, June 1985.

- 45. Duron, Z.H., Experimental and Finite Element Study of a Large Dam, Earthquake Engineering Research Laboratory Report No. EERL 87-02, Caltech, Pasadena, 1987.
- 46. Kuo, J. S.-H., Fluid-Structure Interactions: Added Mass Computations for Incompressible Fluid, Earthquake Engineering Research Center Report No. UCB/EERC 82/09, University of California, Berkeley, August 1982.
- 47. Zienkiewicz, O. C., The Finite Element Method, 3rd edition, McGraw-Hill Book Company, 1977.
- 48. Hall, J.F. and A.K. Chopra, Dynamic Response of Embankment, Concrete-Gravity and Arch Dams Including Hydrodynamic Interaction, Earthquake Engineering Research Center Report No. UCB/EERC 80/39, University of California, Berkeley, October 1980.
- 49. Priscu, R., D. Stematiu, L. Ilie and A. Popovici, *Critical Considerations on Arch Dam Mathematical Models*, Criteria and Assumptions for Numerical Analysis of Dams, D.N. Naylor, et al., editor, Swansea, September 1975.
- 50. Fitzpatrick M.D. and S. Giudici, *Gravity Loading of a Double Curvature Arch Dam*, Criteria and Assumptions for Numerical Analysis of Dams, D.N. Naylor, et al., editor, Swansea, September 1975.
- 51. Housner, G.W. and P.C. Jennings, *The San Fernando California Earthquake*, Earthquake Engineering and Structural Dynamics, Vol. 1, No. 1, July-September 1972.
- 52. Woodward-Lundgren and Associates, Pacoima Dam, Determination of Rock In Situ Dynamic Elastic Foundation Properties, Report to International Engineering Company, Inc., 1971.
- 53. Design of Large Dams, U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, Denver, 1977.
- 54. Reimer, R. B., Deconvolution of Seismic Response for Linear Systems, Earthquake Engineering Research Center Report No. EERC 73-10, University of California, Berkeley, 1973.
- 55. ANCO Engineers, Inc., Dynamic Testing of Concrete Dams, Report to National Science Foundation, June 1982.
- 56. Hall, J.F, and P.S. Nowak, Effects of Nonuniform Seismic Input on Arch Dam Response, paper submitted to the 9th World Conference on Earthquake Engineering, Tokyo, 1988.

## CALIFORNIA INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

#### Reports Published

#### by

# Earthquake Engineering Research Laboratory Dynamic Laboratory Disaster Research Center

Note: Numbers in parenthesis are Accession Numbers assigned by the National Technical Information Service; these reports may be ordered from the National Technical Information Service, 5285 Port Royal Road, Springfield, Virginia, 22161. Accession Numbers should be quoted on orders for reports (PB --- ---). Reports without this information either have not been submitted to NTIS or the information was not available at the time of printing. An N/A in parenthesis indicates that the report is no longer available at Caltech.

- 1. Alford, J.L., G.W. Housner and R.R. Martel, "Spectrum Analysis of Strong-Motion Earthquake," 1951. (Revised August 1964). (N/A)
- Housner, G.W., "Intensity of Ground Motion During Strong Earthquakes," 1952. (N/A)
- 3. Hudson, D.E., J.L. Alford and G.W. Housner, "Response of a Structure to an Explosive Generated Ground Shock," 1952. (N/A)
- 4. Housner, G.W., "Analysis of the Taft Accelerogram of the Earthquake of 21 July 1952." (N/A)
- 5. Housner, G.W., "A Dislocation Theory of Earthquakes," 1953. (N/A)
- 6. Caughey, T.K., and D.E. Hudson, "An Electric Analog Type Response Spectrum," 1954. (N/A)
- Hudson, D.E., and G.W. Housner, "Vibration Tests of a Steel-Frame Building," 1954. (N/A)
- 8. Housner, G.W., "Earthquake Pressures on Fluid Containers," 1954. (N/A)
- 9. Hudson, D.E., "The Wilmot Survey Type Strong-Motion Earthquake Recorder," 1958. (N/A)
- 10. Hudson, D.E., and W.D. Iwan, "The Wilmot Survey Type Strong-Motion Earthquake Recorder, Part II," 1960. (N/A)

\* To order directly by phone the number is 703-487-4650.

- 11. Caughey, T.K., D.E. Hudson, and R.V. Powell, "The CIT Mark II Electric Analog Type Response Spectrum Analyzer for Earthquake Excitation Studies," 1960. (N/A)
- 12. Keightley, W.O., G.W. Housner and D.E. Hudson, "Vibration Tests of the Encino Dam Intake Tower," 1961. (N/A)
- Merchant, Howard Carl, "Mode Superposition Methods Applied to Linear Mechanical Systems Under Earthquake Type Excitation," 1961. (N/A)
- 14. Iwan, Wilfred D., "The Dynamic Response of Bilinear Hysteretic Systems," 1961. (N/A)
- 15. Hudson, D.E., "A New Vibration Exciter for Dynamic Test of Full-Scale Structures," 1961. (N/A)
- 16. Hudson, D.E., "Synchronized Vibration Generators for Dynamic Tests of Full-Scale Structures," 1962. (N/A)
- 17. Jennings, Paul C., "Velocity Spectra of the Mexican Earthquakes of 11 May and 19 May 1962," 1962. (N/A)
- Jennings, Paul C., "Response of Simple Yielding Structures to Earthquake Excitation," 1963. (N/A)
- Keightley, Willard O., "Vibration Tests of Structures," 1963. (N/A)
- 20. Caughey, T.K., and M.E.J. O'Kelly, "General Theory of Vibration of Damped Linear Dynamic Systems," 1963. (N/A)
- 21. O'Kelly, M.E.J., "Vibration of Viscously Damped Linear Dynamic Systems," 1964. (N/A)
- 22. Nielsen, N. Norby, "Dynamic Response of Miltistory Buildings," 1964. (N/A)
- 23. Tso, Wai Keung, "Dynamics of Thin-Walled Beams of Open Section," 1964. (N/A)
- 24. Keightley, Willard O., "A Dynamic Investigation of Bouquet Canyon Dam," 1964. (N/A)
- 25. Malhotra, R.K., "Free and Forced Oscillations of a Class of Self-Excited Oscillators," 1964.
- 26. Hanson, Robert D., "Post-Elastic Response of Mild Steel Structures," 1965.
- 27. Masri, Sami F., "Analytical and Experimental Studies of Impact Dampers," 1965.

- 28. Hanson, Robert D., "Static and Dynamic Tests of a Full-Scale Steel-Frame Structures," 1965.
- 29. Cronin, Donald L., "Response of Linear, Viscous Damped Systems to Excitations Having Time-Varying Frequecy," 1965.
- 30. Hu, Paul Yu-fei, "Analytical and Experimental Studies of Random Vibration," 1965.
- 31. Crede, Charles E., "Research on Failure of Equipment when Subject to Vibration," 1965.
- 32. Lutes, Loren D., "Numerical Response Characteristics of a Uniform Beam Carrying One Discrete Load," 1965. (N/A)
- 33. Rocke, Richard D., "Transmission Matrices and Lumped Parameter Models for Continuous Systems," 1966. (N/A)
- 34. Brady, Arthur Gerald, "Studies of Response to Earthquake Ground Motion," 1966. (N/A)
- 35. Atkinson, John D., "Spectral Density of First Order Piecewise Linear Systems Excited by White Noise," 1967. (N/A)
- 36. Dickerson, John R., "Stability of Parametrically Excited Differential Equations," 1967. (N/A)
- 37. Giberson, Melbourne F., "The Response of Nonlinear Multi-Story Structures Subjected to Earthquake Excitation," 1967. (N/A)
- 38. Hallanger, Lawrence W., "The Dynamic Stability of an Unbalanced Mass Exciter," 1967.
- 39. Husid, Raul, "Gravity Effects on the Earthquake Response of Yielding Structures," 1967. (N/A)
- 40. Kuroiwa, Julio H., "Vibration Test of a Multistory Building," 1967. (N/A)
- 41. Lutes, Loren Daniel, "Stationary Random Response of Bilinear Hysteretic Systems," 1967.
- 42. Nigam, Navin C., "Inelastic Interactions in the Dynamic Response of Structures," 1967.
- 43. Nigam, Navin C. and Paul C. Jennings, "Digital Calculation of Response Spectra from Strong-Motion Earthquake Records," 1968.
- 44. Spencer, Richard A., "The Nonlinear Response of Some Multistory Reinforced and Prestressed Concrete Structures Subjected to Earthquake Excitation," 1968. (N/A)

- 45. Jennings, P.C., G.W. Housner and N.C. Tsai, "Simulated Earthquake Motions," 1968.
- 46. "Strong-Motion Instrumental Data on the Borrego Mountain Earthquake of 9 April 1968," (USGS and EERL Joint Report), 1968.
- 47. Peters, Rex B., "Strong Motion Accelerograph Evaluation," 1969.
- 48. Heitner, Kenneth L., "A Mathematical Model for Callculation of the Run-Up of Tsunamis," 1969.
- 49. Trifunac, Mihailo D., "Investigation of Strong Earthquake Ground Motion," 1969. (N/A)
- 50. Tsai, Nien Chien, "Influence of Local Geology on Earthquake Ground Motion," 1969. (N/A)
- 51. Trifunac, Mihailo D., "Wind and Microtremor Induced Vibrations of a Twenty-Two Steel Frame Building," EERL 70-01, 1970.
- 52. Yang, I-Min, "Stationary Random Response of Multidegree-of-Freedom Systems," DYNL-100, June 1970. (N/A)
- 53. Patula, Edward John, "Equivalent Differential Equations for Nonlinear Dynamic Systems," DYNL-101, June 1970.
- 54. Prelewicz, Daniel Adam, "Range of Validity of the Method of Averaging," DYNL-102, 1970.
- 55 Trifunac, M.D., "On the Statistics and Possible Triggering Mechanism of Earthquakes in Southern California," EERL 70-03, July 1970.
- 56. Heitner, Kenneth Leon, "Additional Investigations on a Mathematical Model for Calculation of Run-Up of Tsunamis," July 1970.
- 57. Trifunac, Mihailo D., "Ambient Vibration Tests of a Thirty-Nine Story Steel Frame Building," EERL 70-02, July 1970.
- 58. Trifunac, Mihailo D. and D.E. Hudson, "Laboratory Evaluations and Instrument Corrections of Strong-Motion Accelerographs," EERL 70-04, August 1970. (N/A)
- 59. Trifunac, Mihailo D., "Response Envelope Spectrum and Interpretation of Strong Earthquake Groun Motion," EERL 70-06, August 1970.
- 60. Keightley, W.O., "A Strong-Motion Accelerograph Array with Telephone Line Interconnections," EERL 70-05, September 1970.
- 61. Trifunac, Mihailo D., "Low Frequency Digitization Errors and a New Method for Zero Baseline Correction of Strong-Motion Accelerograms," EERL 70-07, September 1970.

- 62. Vijayaraghavan, A., "Free and Forced Oscillations in a Class of Piecewise-Linear Dynamic Systems," DYNL-103, January 1971.
- 63. Jennings, Paul C., R.B. Mathiesen and J. Brent Hoerner, "Forced Vibrations of a 22-Story Steel Frame Building," EERL 71-01, February 1971. (N/A) (PB 205 161)
- 64. Jennings, Paul C., "Engineering Features of the San Fernando Earthquake of February 9, 1971," EERL 71-02, June 1971. (PB 202 550)
- 65. Bielak, Jacobo, "Earthquake Response of Building-Foundation Systems," EERL 71-04, June 1971. (N/A) (PB 205 305)
- 66. Adu, Randolph Ademola, "Response and Failure of Structures Under Stationary Random Excitation," EERL 71-03, June 1971. (N/A) (PB 205 304)
- 67. Skattum, Knut Sverre, "Dynamic Analysis of Coupled Shear Walls and Sandwich Beams," EERL 71-06, June 1971. (N/A) (PB 205 267)
- 68. Hoerner, John Brent, "Model Coupling and Earthquake Response of Tall Buildings," EERL 71-07, June 1971. (N/A) (PB 207 635)
- 69. Stahl, Karl John, "Dynamic Response of Circular Plates Subjected to Moving Massive Loads," DYNL-104, June 1971. (N/A)
- 70. Trifunac, M.D., F.E. Udwadia and A.G. Brady, "High Frequency Errors and Instrument Corrections of Strong-Motion Accelerograms," EERL 71-05, 1971. (PB 205 369)
- 71. Furuike, D.M., "Dynamic Response of Hysteretic Systems With Application to a System Containing Limited Slip," DYNL-105, September 1971. (N/A)
- 72. Hudson, D.E. (Editor), "Strong-Motion Instrumental Data on the San Fernando Earthquake of February 9, 1971," (Seismological Field Survey, NOAA, C.I.T. Joint Report), September 1971. (PB 204 198)
- 73. Jennings, Paul C. and Jacobo Bielak, "Dynamics of Building-Soil Interaction," EERL 72-01, April 1972. (PB 209 666)
- 74. Kim, Byung-Koo, "Piesewise Linear Dynamic Systems with Time Delays," DYNL-106, April 1972.
- 75. Viano, David Charles, "Wave Propagation in a Symmetrically Layered Elastic Plate," DYNL-107, May 1972.
- 76. Whitney, Albert W., "On Insurance Settlements Incident to the 1906 San Francisco Fire," DRC 72-01, August 1972. (PB 213 256)

- 77. Udwadia, F.E., "Investigation of Earthquake and Microtremor Ground Motions," EERL 72-02, September 1972. (PB 212 853)
- 78. Wood, John H., "Analysis of the Earthquake Response of a Nine-Story Steel Frame Building During the San Fernando Earthquake," EERL 72-04, October 1972. (PB 215 823)
- 79. Jennings, Paul C., "Rapid Calculation of Selected Fourier Spectrum Ordinates," EERL 72-05, November 1972.
- 80. "Research Papers Submitted to Fifth World Conference on Earthquake Engineering, Rome, Italy, 25-29 June 1973," EERL 73-02, March 1973. (PB 220 431)
- 81. Udwadia, F.E., and M.D. Trifunac, "The Fourier Transform, Response Spectra and Their Relationship Through the Statistics of Oscillator Response," EERL 73-01, April 1973. (PB 220 458)
- 82. Housner, George W., "Earthquake-Resistant Design of High-Rise Buildings," DRC 73-01, July 1973. (N/A)
- 83. "Earthquake and Insurance," Earthquake Research Affiliates Conference, 2-3 April, 1973, DRC 73-02, July 1973. (PB 223 033)
- 84. Wood, John H., "Earthquake-Induced Soil Pressures on Structures," EERL 73-05, August 1973. (N/A)
- 85. Crouse, Charles B., "Engineering Studies of the San Fernando Earthquake," EERL 73-04, March 1973. (N/A)
- 86. Irvine, H.Max, "The Veracruz Earthquake of 28 August 1973," EERL 73-06, October 1973.
- 87. Iemura, H. and P.C. Jennings, "Hysteretic Response of a Nine-Story Reinforced Concrete Building During the San Fernando Earthquake," EERL 73-07, October 1973.
- 88. Trifunac, M.D. and V. Lee, "Routine Computer Processing of Strong-Motion Accelerograms," EERL 73-03, October 1973. (N/A) (PB 226 047/AS)
- 89. Moeller, Thomas Lee, "The Dynamics of a Spinning Elastic Disk with Massive Load," DYNL 73-01, October 1973.
- 90. Blevins, Robert D., "Flow Induced Vibration of Bluff Structures," DYNL 74-01, February 1974.
- 91. Irvine, H. Max, "Studies in the Statics and Dynamics of Simple Cable Systems," DYNL-108, January 1974.

- 92. Jephcott, D.K. and D.E. Hudson, "The Performance of Public School Plants During the San Fernando Earthquake," EERL 74-01, September 1974. (PB 240 000/AS)
- 93. Wong, Hung Leung, "Dynamic Soil-Structure Interaction," EERL 75-01, May 1975. (N/A) (PB 247 233/AS)
- 94. Foutch, D.A., G.W. Housner, and P.C. Jennings, "Dynamic Responses of Six Multistory Buildings During the San Fernando Earthquake," EERL 75-02, October 1975. (PB 248 144/AS)
- 95. Miller, Richard Keith, "The Steady-State Response of Multidegreeof-Freedom Systems with a Spatially Localized Nonlinearity," EERL 75-03, October 1975. (PB 252 459/AS)
- 96. Abdel-Ghaffar, Ahmed Mansour, "Dynamic Analyses of Suspension Bridge Structures," EERL 76-01, May 1976. (PB 258 744/AS)
- 97. Foutch, Douglas A., "A Study of the Vibrational Characteristics of Two Multistory Buildings," EERL 76-03, September 1976. (PB 260 874/AS)
- 98. "Strong Motion Earthquake Accelerograms Index Volume," Earthquake Engineering Research Laboratory, EERL 76-02, August 1976. (PB 260 929/AS)
- 99. Spanos, P-T.D., "Linearization Techniques for Non-Linear Dynamical Systems," EERL 76-04, September 1976. (PB 266 083/AS)
- 100. Edwards, Dean Barton, "Time Domain Analysis of Switching Regulators," DYNL 77-01, March 1977.
- 101. Abdel-Ghaffar, Ahmed Mansour, "Studies of the Effect of Differential Motions of Two Foundations upon the Response of the Superstructure of a Bridge," EERL 77-02, January 1977. (PB 271 095/AS)
- 102. Gates, Nathan C., "The Earthquake Response of Deteriorating Systems," EERL 77-03, March 1977. (PB 271 090/AS)
- 103. Daly, W., W. Judd and R. Meade, "Evaluation of Seismicity at U.S. Reservoirs," USCOLD, Committee on Earthquakes, May 1977. (PB 270 036/AS)
- 104. Abdel-Ghaffer, A.M. and G.W. Housner, "An Analysis of the Dynamic Characteristics of a Suspension Bridge by Ambient Vibration Measurements," EERL 77-01, January 1977. (PB 275 063/AS)
- 105. Housner, G.W. and P.C. Jennings, "Earthquake Design Criteria for Structures," EERL 77-06, November 1977. (PB 276 502/AS)

- 106. Morrison, P., R. Maley, G. Brady, R. Porcella, "Earthquake Recordings on or Near Dams," USCOLD, Committee on Earthquakes, November 1977. (PB 285 867/AS)
- 107. Abdel-Ghaffar, A.M., "Engineering Data and Analyses of the Whittier, California Earthquake of January 1, 1976," EERL 77-05, November 1977. (PB 283 750/AS)
- 108. Beck, James L., "Determining Models of Structures from Earthquake Records," EERL 78-01, June 1978. (PB 288 806/AS)
- 109. Psycharis, Ioannis, "The Salonica(Thessaloniki) Earthquake of June 20, 1978," EERL 78-03, October 1978. (PB 290 120/AS)
- 110. Abdel-Ghaffar, A.M. and R.F. Scott, "An Investigation of the Dynamic Characteristics of an Earth Dam," EERL 78-02, August 1978. (PB 288 878/AS
- 111. Mason, Alfred B., Jr., "Some Observations on the Random Response of Linear and Nonlinear Dynamical Systems," EERL 79-01, January 1979. (PB 290 808/AS)
- 112. Helmberger, D.V. and P.C. Jennings (Organizers), "Strong Ground Motion: N.S.F. Seminar-Workshop," SL-EERL 79-02, February 1978.
- 113. Lee, David M., Paul C. Jennings and George W. Housner, "A Selection of Important Strong Motion Earthquake Records," EERL 80-01, January 1980. (PB 80 169196)
- 114. McVerry, Graeme H., "Frequency Domain Identification of Structural Models from Earthquake Records," EERL 79-02, October 1979. (PB-80-194301)
- 115. Abdel-Ghaffar A.M., R.F.Scott and M.J.Craig, "Full-Scall Experimental Investigation of a Modern Earth Dam," EERL 80-02, February 1980. (PB-81-123788)
- 116. Rutenberg, Avigdor, Paul C. Jennings and George W. Housner, "The Response of Veterans Hospital Building 41 in the San Fernando Earthquake," EERL 80-03, May 1980. (PB-82-201377)
- 117. Haroun, Medhat Ahmed, "Dynamic Analyses of Liquid Storage Tanks," EERL 80-04, February 1980. (PB-81-123275)
- 118. Liu, Wing Kam, "Development of Finite Element Procedures for Fluid-Structure Interaction," EERL 80-06, August 1980. (PB 184078)
- 119. Yoder, Paul Jerome, "A Strain-Space Plasticity Theory and Numerical Implementation," EERL 80-07, August 1980. (PB-82-201682)
- 120. Krousgrill, Charles Morton, Jr., "A Linearization Technique for the Dynamic Response of Nonlinear Continua," EERL 80-08, September 1980. (PB-82-201823)
- 121. Cohen, Martin, "Silent Boundary Methods for Transient Wave Analysis," EERL 80-09, September 1980. (PB-82-201831)
- 122. Hall, Shawn A., "Vortex-Induced Vibrations of Structures," EERL 81-01, January 1981. (PB-82-201849)
- 123. Psycharis, Ioannis N., "Dynamic Behavior of Rocking Structures Allowed to Uplift," EERL 81-02, August 1981. (PB-82-212945)
- 124. Shih, Choon-Foo, "Failure of Liquid Storage Tanks Due to Earthquake Excitation," EERL 81-04, May 1981. (PB-82-215013)
- 125. Lin, Albert Niu, "Experimental Observations of the Effect of Foundation Embedment on Structural Response," EERL 82-01, May 1982. (PB-84-163252)
- 126. Botelho, Dirceau L.R., "An Empirical Model for Vortex-Induced Vibrations," EERL 82-02, August 1982. (PB-84-161157)
- 127. Ortiz, L. Alexander, "Dynamic Centrifuge Testing of Cantilever Retaining Walls," SML 82-02, August 1982. (PB-84-162312)
- 128. Iwan, W.D., Editor, "Proceedings of the U.S. National Workshop on Strong-Motion Earthquake Instrumentation, April 12-14, 1981, Santa Barbara, California," California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, California, 1981.
- 129. Rashed, Ahmed, "Dynamic Analysis of Fluid-Structure Systems," EERL 82-03, July 1982. (PB-84-162916)
- 130. National Academy Press, "Earthquake Engineering Research-1982."
- 131. National Academy Press, "Earthquake Engineering Research-1982, Overview and Recommendations."
- 132. Jain, Sudhir Kumar, "Analytical Models for the Dynamics of Buildings," EERL 83-02, May 1983. (PB-84-161009)
- 133. Huang, Moh-Jiann, "Investigation of Local Geology Effects on Strong Earthquake Ground Motions," EERL 83-03, July 1983. (PB-84-161488)
- 134. Mcverry, G.H. and J.L. Beck, "Structural Identification of JPL Building 180 Using Optimally Synchronized Earthquake Records." EERL 83-01, August 1983. (PB-84-162833)
- 135. Bardet, J.P., "Application of Plasticity Theory to Soil Behavior: A New Sand Model," SML 83-01, September 1983. (PB-84-162304)

- 136. Wilson, John C., "Analysis of the Observed Earthquake Response of a Multiple Span Bridge," EERL 84-01, May 1984. (PB-85-240505/AS)
- 137. Hushmand, Behnam, "Experimental Studies of Dynamic Response of Foundations," SML 83-02, November 1983. (PB-86-115383/A)
- 138. Cifuentes, Arturo O., "System Identification of Hysteretic Structures," EERL 84-04, 1984. (PB-240489/AS14)
- 139. Smith, Kenneth Scott, "Stochastic Analysis of the Seismic Response of Secondary Systems," EERL 85-01, November 1984. (PB-85-240497/AS)
- 140. Maragakis, Emmanuel, "A Model for the Rigid Body Motions of Skew Bridges," EERL 85-02, December 1984. (PB-85-248433/AS)
- 141. Jeong, Garrett Duane, "Cumulative Damage of Structures Subjected to Response Spectrum Consistent Random Process," EERL 85-03, January 1985. (PB-86-100809)
- 142. Chelvakumar, Kasivisvanathan, "A Simple Strain-Space Plasticity Model for Clays," EERL 85-05, 1985. PB-
- 143. Pak, Ronald Y.S., "Dynamic Response of a Partially Embedded Bar Under Transverse Excitations," EERL 85-04, May 1985. PB-
- 144. Tan, Thiam-Soon, "Two Phase Soil Study: A. Finite Strain Consolidation, B. Centrifuge Scaling Considerations," SML 85-01, August 1985. PB-
- 145. Iwan, Wilfred D., Michael A. Moser and Chia-Yen Peng, "Strong-Motion Earthquake Measurement Using a Digital Accelerograph," EERL 84-02, April 1984.
- 146. Beck, R.T. and J.L. Beck, "Comparison Between Transfer Function and Modal Minimization Methods for System Identification," EERL 85-06, April 1984.
- 147. Jones, Nicholas Patrick, "Flow-Induced Vibration of Long Structures," DYNL 86-01, May 1986. PB-
- 148. Peek, Ralf, "Analysis of Unanchored Liquid Storage Tanks Under Seismic Loads," EERL 86-01, April 1986. PB-
- 149. Paparizos, Leonidas G., "Some Observations on the Random Response of Hysteretic Systems," EERL 86-02. PB-
- 150. Moser, Michael Anthony, "The Response of Stick-Slip Systems to Random Seismic Excitation," EERL 86-03, September 1986. PB-
- 151. Burrige, Paul Brian, "Failure of Slopes," SML 87-01, March 1987. PB-

152. Jayakumar, Paramsothy, "Modeling and Identification in Structural Dynamics," EERL 87-01, May 1987. PB-

•

## Strong-Motion Earthquake Accelerograms Digitized and Plotted Data

## Uncorrected Accelerograms

## Volume I

		NTIS
Part	Report No.	Accession No.
	500 TO 30	
A	EERL 70-20	PB 28/ 64/
В	EERL 70-21	PB 190 823
C	EERL /1-20	PB 204 364
D	EERL / 1 - 21	PB 208 529
E	EERL 71-22	PB 209 749
F	EERL /1-23	PB 210 619
G	EERL /2-20	PB 211 357
H	EERL 72-21	PB 211 781
I	<b>EERL</b> 72-22	PB 213 422
J	EERL 72-23	PB 213 423
ĸ	EERL 72-24	PB 213 424
L	EERL 72-25	PB 215 639
M	EERL 72-26	PB 220 554
N	EERL 72-27	PB 223 023
0	EERL 73-20	PB 222 417
P	EERL 73-21	PB 227 481/AS
Q	EERL 73-22	PB 232 315/AS
R	EERL 73-23	PB 239 585/AS
S	EERL 73-24	PB 241 551/AS
T	EERL 73-25	PB 241 943/AS
U	EERL 73-26	PB 242 262/AS
v	EERL 73-27	PB 243 483/AS
W	EERL 73-28	PB 243 497/AS
X	EERL 73-29	PB 243 594/AS
Y	EERL 73-30	PB 242 947/AS

## Strong-Motion Earthquake Accelerograms Digitized and Plotted Data

.

-

Corrected Accelerograms and Integrated Ground Velocity and Displacement Curves

#### Volume II

		NTIS
<u>Part</u>	Report No.	Accession No.
Α	EERL 71-50	PB 208 283
В	EERL 72-50	PB 220 161
С	EERL 72-51	PB 220 162
D	EERL 72-52	PB 220 836
E	EERL 73-50	PB 223 024
F	EERL 73-51	PB 224 977/9AS
G	EERL 73-52	PB 229 239/AS
H	EERL 74-50	PB 231 225/AS
I	EERL 74-51	PB 232 316/AS
J,K	EERL 74-52	PB 233 257/AS
L,M	EERL 74-53	PB 237 174/AS
N	EERL 74-54	PB 236 399/AS
0,P	EERL 74-55	PB 239 586/AS
Q,R	EERL 74-56	PB 239 587/AS
S	EERL 74-57	PB 241 552/AS
T	EERL 75-50	PB 242 433/AS
U	EERL 75-51	PB 242 949/AS
V	EERL 75-52	PB 242 948/AS
W,Y	EERL 75-53	PB 243 719

13

### Analyses of Strong-Motion Earthquake Accelerograms Response Spectra

### Volume\_III

		NTIS
Part	Report No.	Accession No.
Δ	FFRI. 72-80	PB 212 602
Ř	EERL 73-80	PB 221 256
č	EERI, 73-81	PB 223 025
D	EERI, 73-82	PB 227 469/AS
3	FERL 73-83	PB 227 470/AS
Ŧ	EERL 73-84	PB 227 471/AS
G	EERL 73-85	PB 231 223/AS
H	EERL 74-80	PB 231 319/AS
ī	EERL 74-81	PB 232 326/AS
J.K.L	EERL 74-82	PB 236 110/AS
M. N	EERL 74-83	PB 236 400/AS
O,P	EERL 74-84	PB 238 102/AS
O.R	EERL 74-85	PB 240 688/AS
Ŝ	EERL 74-86	PB 241 553/AS
T	EERL 75-80	PB 243 698/AS
U	EERL 75-81	PB 242 950/AS
v	EERL 75-82	PB 242 951/AS
W,Y	EERL 75-83	PB 243 492/AS

# Analyses of Strong-Motion Earthquake Accelerograms Fourier Amplitude Spectra

# Volume\_IV

		NTIS
Part	Report No.	Accession No.
A B C D E F G H	EERL 72-100 EERL 73-100 EERL 73-101 EERL 73-102 EERL 73-103 EERL 73-104 EERL 73-105 EERL 74-100	PB 212 603   PB 220 837   PB 222 514   PB 222 969/AS   PB 229 240/AS   PB 229 241/AS   PB 231 224/AS   PB 232 327/AS
I J,K,L,M N,O,P Q,R,S T,U V,W,Y	EERL 74-101 EERL 74-102 EERL 74-103 EERL 74-104 EERL 75-100 EERL 75-101	PB 232 328/AS PB 236 111/AS PB 238 447/AS PB 241 554/AS PB 243 493/AS PB 243 494/AS